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VISION 2028 – YEAR 3
IN 2021, OUR VISION 2028 STRATEGY PROVIDED US 
WITH THE RESILIENCE AND INNOVATION NECESSARY 
TO NAVIGATE AN ONGOING GLOBAL PANDEMIC, MEET 
CHALLENGES SHAPED BY CLIMATE CHANGE AND SEIZE THE 
LIMITLESS OPPORTUNTIES PRESENTED BY INDUSTRY 5.0.
As we entered Year 3 of Vision 2028, we continued to be tested by the global pandemic. 
We took decisive action to advance our education and research impact while responding 
dynamically in constantly changing circumstances. 

Through it all, we stood strong. Our multi-layered Covid response system kept our 
community safe, our Dual Delivery framework engaged students to ever-higher levels, and our 
series of wellbeing initiatives provided intellectual, emotional and physical support during an 
historically difficult time. As we closed out 2021, we could proudly say that not only has the 
University of East London successfully navigated the pandemic, we have flourished.

Through it all, our careers-first vision has remained constant: we empower our learners, build 
Industry 5.0 career-readiness and nurture an inclusive industry-facing environment that is 
central to the creation of a more diverse talent pipeline. 

And while the pandemic has remained uppermost in our thoughts this year, we also took 
the opportunity to explore new themes. In Year 3 of Vision 2028 we moved forward with the 
following strategies:

 – Becoming a leader in the local and global climate change conversation and a net-zero 
carbon institution by 2028

 – Supporting the health and wellbeing of students, staff and the local community with care, 
compassion and commitment

 – Harnessing the power of sport to transform lives individually, locally and nationally 

This year we also celebrated the launch of our multi-million pound Connected Campus 
improvement programme designed to increase the accessibility of our campuses to our 
community and to enhance the education and industry interface. 

Connected Campus is also helping us achieve the core Digital-First objectives of Vision 2028. 
We are already transforming our digital gateway and its cloud-based infrastructure, and 
we are one of the first British universities to fully realise a single relationship management 
solution to support the student life-cycle. This digital fluency will continue to drive the 
student engagement with learning which, coupled with seamless technology-enhanced 
teaching, enables a thriving work and study environment. The 2020/21 annual report reflects 
upon these accomplishments, demonstrating how we successfully overcame challenges as we 
look to how we can build upon our progress in the years to come.
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WE ARE THE UNIVERSITY 
OF EAST LONDON

A VIBRANT, INCLUSIVE AND GROWING COMMUNITY:

AS OF DECEMBER 2020, 25,195 STUDENTS WERE ENROLLED AT UEL, 
A 33.5 % INCREASE FROM THE PREVIOUS YEAR. 

OUR STUDENTS REPRESENT 156 DIFFERENT NATIONALITIES.

OUR STUDENTS IDENTIFY AS 26% WHITE; 24.5% BLACK; 33.9% 
ASIAN; 5.6% MIXED HERITAGE; AND 3.8% ‘OTHER’. 

OVER 2020/21, WE HAVE NARROWED THE DEGREE AWARDING GAP 
FROM 21 PER CENT TO 13 PER CENT.

52% OF OUR STUDENTS ARE THE FIRST IN THEIR FAMILY TO 
ATTEND UNIVERSITY. 
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AN IMPACTFUL, FUTURE-FOCUSED CURRICULUM:
Our research is aimed at making a positive impact globally and locally. In 2021, we 
ranked second in the UK in community engagement in the Knowledge Exchange 
Framework (KEF), acknowledging the shift from creating new knowledge to the 
application of that knowledge to create positive outcomes for communities. 

All our courses help build employability skills to support students to achieve their 
career ambitions. Placements are a key element and courses with placements have 
grown from 3,000 in 2020 to over 4,000 in 2021.

In 2021, over 900 employers signed our Careers-First pledge, committing to 
support our Vision 2028 strategy objectives and to work in accordance with UEL’s 
statement on Equality, Diversity and Inclusion. We also launched our flagship social 
mobility programme, Diversity of Thought, to provide deeper engagement with 
aspirational employers including ITV, AWS, KPMG and MSCI.

Overall, over 2,000 employers have registered so far with our Career Zone, posting 
over 3,000 jobs in 63 employment sectors. 

Our sector-leading Mental Wealth and Professional Fitness programme has been 
rolled out to students at all levels of study. The programme’s subject-specific 
modules are designed to meet the needs of industry now and in the future and 
provide students with the digital proficiency and emotional, cultural, physical and 
social intelligence necessary to thrive in Industry 5.0. 
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AN AWARD-WINNING COMMUNITY:
Honours include being shortlisted for ‘Outstanding 
Entrepreneurial University of the Year 2020’ in the Times 
Higher Education Awards; winner of The Learning Technologies 
2020 Award for ‘Best Use of Blended Technologies Through the 
Pandemic’; winner of the Pearson Higher Education Innovate 
Awards 2021 for ‘Most Innovative Approach to Supporting 
Students’; winner of the NEON (National Educational Opportunity 
Network) 2021 ‘Student of the Year’ Award (Yasmin Haque) 
shortlisted for the Funded Internship Scheme; shortlisted for the 
PIEoneer award for Employability (International Impact); third 
in the Target Jobs Awards for Best University Employability 
Strategy; winner of the RIBA student Sustainability Award 
2021 (Jun Bin Yap); and shortlisted for the Architects Journal 
Sustainability Award 2021 (Paulius Vaizgenis).
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WE WORK WITH  
INDUSTRY
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BY CREATING COURSES GEARED 
TOWARDS INDUSTRY, OUR GOAL IS TO 
BE THE UNIVERSITY THAT PREPARES 
PEOPLE FOR THE CAREERS OF THE 
FUTURE. 
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A MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIR OF
THE UNIVERSITY OF EAST LONDON 
BOARD OF GOVERNORS

The past year has been a time of stasis for some as a result of the continued reality 
of Covid-19. We are pleased to have continued to make tremendous progress 
despite the prevailing global conditions brought about by Covid-19.

Though dire and tragic, these conditions have provided us with the opportunity to 
re-think, reiterate and renew with a spirit of resilience and purpose. Over the course 
of the last year, we as the Board of Governors have spent time strengthening 
governance processes, setting in place the right foundations for a stronger 
tomorrow. We have worked through our strategic plans, allocating investments in 
the right places to ensure that we continue to track to our long-term goals.  
 
In 2020/21 the Board developed processes to track compliance more closely in 
matters such as alignment to the CUC Code. We also established the first iteration 
of an Ethical Framework for the University. Our Ethics Advisory Committee has 
overseen the process of its development and application within the University.  
We have restructured the Board to ensure its composition continues to reflect the 
lives and aspirations of our student body. The sheer weight of experience and skills 
of our members is bringing gravity and relevance to our purpose.

Two of our recent appointees who illustrate this are:

Professor Sir Les Ebdon is a widely recognised authority in the fields of social 
mobility and higher education and a former director of Fair Access to Higher 
Education, helping to drive the number of disadvantaged students in HE to its 
highest ever level.

Doris Olulode is a former student at the University and has extensive human 
resources experience in the corporate world, having spent several years at the most 
senior levels at Ford Motor Company, as well as holding non-executive directorships 
with a number of hospital trusts.
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The university continues to work closely with public health services. We are very 
proud of our reputation as a key partner in supplying healthcare institutions with 
nurses and healthcare specialists of the highest calibre. We are especially proud as 
this has become all the more relevant during the pandemic. 

We were quick to offer up volunteers and resources in the early stages of the 
pandemic and have continued to provide support to the local community through 
setting up vaccination and testing centres. I am assured that the relationships 
with Newham and its residents, further strengthened in crisis, will continue to 
grow even deeper in the years ahead. The work so far has been nothing short of 
transformative and has catalysed the University’s cherished ambition to make 
a meaningful impact on our community, reflecting our core values. Our close 
collaboration with the borough has undoubtedly impacted many lives. 

Underpinning all our advances and ambitions has been a necessary focus on our 
financial resilience. Although the pandemic has been challenging, we had already set 
in place measures to put our finances on to surer footing. The University remains 
free of leverage and our cash generation remains strong. In 2020/21, we saw a good 
operating year with income growing by 12.5 per cent and an operating surplus of 
nearly £18 million.
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Looking at our longer-term sustainability, we aspire to be 
better connected to our students, staff and community. Our 
multi-million-pound investment in our Connected Campus 
improvements program is very much underway and aims to 
promote a more vibrant and stimulating environment for 
both the University and our local community while attracting 
a wider audience nationally and globally. In July we concluded 
the acquisition of Birkbeck’s (University of London) share of 
the University Square Stratford (USS) campus, located in the 
heart of Stratford’s arts and cultural district. We now seek to 
enhance its facilities, providing more space and resources for 
our energetic and growing Royal Docks School of Business and 
Law and its Legal Advice Centre and Tax and Accountancy Clinic, 
which provide free and essential aid to those who can’t afford it.

While we anticipate further uncertainty in the sector, with 
government policy on post-18 education still unresolved and 
Covid-19 omnipresent, we face these challenges in the knowledge 
that we have durable contingencies. 

Three themes arising from our Vision 2028 strategy have 
become our current focus and all have a topical urgency. They 
are: sustainability, with the University’s ambitious target to 
become carbon net zero by 2028; health and wellbeing, with 
its painful topicality; and sport, where the university will be 
celebrating its 10th year legacy from the Olympics in 2012 
where we have excelled so often in the past, evidenced by our 
representation at the Olympic and Paralympic Games.

Finally, at the heart of Vision 2028 is service to, and support of, 
one of the most diverse student populations in the UK. Part of 
this is our new Diversity of Thought programme, which brings 
together blue-chip employers and students with the aim of 
equipping our students and graduates to find solutions to the 
biggest challenges facing our world today. Over 38 per cent of 
participants in the programme are the first in their families to go 
to university.
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On behalf of the Board of Governors, I would like to extend our 
sincere gratitude to all those who over the past year continue to 
work hard to make the University of East London such a resilient 
institution: our vice- chancellor & president and her executive 
team, our staff and our students, past and present and our 
broader stakeholders. Finally, I would like to thank to my fellow 
Board members, whose wisdom, guidance and experience have 
helped steer our ship confidently through these challenging and 
unusual waters.
 
In August 2022, I will leave behind a University in good standing, 
measurably and markedly improved from the time I joined the 
Board in November 2018 and became its chair a year later. I 
have the utmost confidence that my successor, our Board, the 
University’s leadership and, of course, our staff and students, 
will continue to innovate and pioneer within UK higher education, 
and transform the lives of our communities through knowledge, 
research, and education. 

With best wishes,

Anulika Ajufo,
Chair, Board of Governors   
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INTRODUCTION AND A PERSONAL 
MESSAGE FROM THE VICE-CHANCELLOR 
AND PRESIDENT 

The last 18 months have brought forth among University of East London students 
and staff a collective resilience that has been a privilege to witness. We have been 
tested and challenged. The global pandemic has forced us to adapt and respond, 
without reprieve, keeping our operations in good order while continuing to progress 
our careers-first mission and participate in global conversations around pressing 
issues such as climate change and mental health. 

Without qualification, I can say the University of East London is emerging from the 
pandemic more robust than ever. We have earned recognition as a leader within the 
Higher Education sector in areas such as Covid-security, careers-led curriculum, 
student support, and sustainability. We are finding innovative ways to support the 
resiliency and intellectual, mental and physical wellbeing of our students and staff. 
We are securing the physical and digital future of our campuses through our multi-
million pound Connected Campus programme. We are well-equipped to handle any 
continuing and future storms.

It was a difficult start to 2021. In January, the country went into its third national 
lockdown, although London was already under the tightest level of restrictions.  
Fortunately, the University of East London was more than prepared. Our strong 
Covid-security measures, Tiers of Operation system and flexible Dual Delivery 
educational programme allowed us to continue to deliver a first-class education 
while keeping our community protected and safe. We worked closely with our 
partners at Newham Public Health to deliver Covid-related services and advocacy, 
including vaccination clinics at our Docklands and Stratford campuses. As a result 
of this hard work, our rates of on-campus Covid-19 transmission have remained 
extremely low throughout the pandemic. 

Despite the challenges of the pandemic, we have continued to progress our Vision 
2028 strategy: establishing stronger connections with employers; increasing our 
commitments to sustainability; enhancing services that support our students to 
succeed; and investing in training (accelerating our digital transformation plans), 
wellbeing and wider student and staff support. 
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We are more committed than ever to providing a careers-first education and 
experience, preparing our students for Industry 5.0 and building an inclusive and 
diverse talent pipeline.

The move to Dual Delivery – a sector-leading, technology-enabled pedagogy that 
facilitates synchronous face-to-face and online teaching – was set in place in 
quick order in 2020 to accommodate the immediate demands of lockdown and to 
facilitate a ready response to changing infection rates. This real-world test proved 
its resilience and utility. We moved to Dual Delivery 2.0 in Autumn 2021, adding 
new components and one-stop functionality to the system, including personalised 
support through the learner journey, enhancements to the dedicated Track My 
Future support portal and the ability for students to engage in co-curricular and 
enrichment programmes. 

Dual Delivery 2.0 is complimented by a number of innovative new programmes, such 
as our social mobility initiative Diversity of Thought; the UEL Edge Award, which 
helps students reach their full potential, in and outside of the classroom, through 
micro-credentials; and Fit for Your Future, which provides students with the tools 
to explore 10 domains of wellness.  We aspire to deliver a fulfilling, stimulating, 
inclusive and successful experience for every student of our University community.

17



Careers provision continues to grow from strength to strength. A few highlights 
from the past year: 

 – 900 new employers signed up to our ‘Careers 1st’ pledge in 2021, including The 
Household of TRH The Prince of Wales and The Duchess of Cornwall, GSK, 
10000 Black Interns, Accenture and Disney. These employers have agreed 
to support our initiatives and promote opportunities to our students and 
graduates

 – Our 2,000 employers registered with us, posting over 3,000 jobs opportunities 
for our students in 63 employment sectors 

 – Over 4,000 students in our mentoring programmes
 – Over 55 per cent of our student body actively engaged with the Career Zone to 

access tailored employability support
 – Over 1,000 impactful one-to-one career coaching appointments
 – Placement on three major careers-related award shortlists: NEON Award for 

Widening Access Initiative (Retention and Progression) for the UEL Funded 
Internship Scheme; PIEoneer award for Employability International Impact; and 
Target Jobs ‘Best University Employability Strategy’ award

In 2021, we remained committed to our position as the centre of education and 
training for our home borough of Newham. Given the pandemic, our healthcare 
provision has become especially vital. Since its founding three years ago, our 
Department of Nursing has grown from 62 nursing students to more than 1,000 
student across multiple healthcare pathways. Most intend to remain in east London 
after their studies. Other health students helped staff our testing and vaccination 
centres, initiatives where we closely collaborated with borough health officials and 
local NHS trusts.

By mid-year, we had grown the number of our apprenticeships to 764, and launched 
a Police Constable Degree Apprenticeship Programme. The latter initiative is a 
collaboration with the London Metropolitan Police Force and learning partner 
Babcock International Group.

Our belief in the power of sport to transform lives and communities drove our 
global sports strategy. We cheered for University athletes at the Tokyo Olympic 
and Paralympic Games. We supported sport opportunities at a local and grassroots 
level. Every single young person who took part in our Sport in Your Futures 
programme rated their experience positively. Sport in Your Futures uses sport as 
a vehicle to support social mobility and drive socio-economic change. It has brought 
over 1,000 students, many from vulnerable groups, from 23 primary schools to our 
SportsDock for activity sessions, interaction with UEL athletes and sport fixtures.
 
In 2021, we also launched our plan to become a net zero carbon campus by 2028. 
This includes working alongside blue-chip partners like Siemens to evolve a smart 
campus strategy and build our growing reputation as a player in a global network of 
higher education institutions and thinkers who will produce sustainability solutions.
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We invested in resources promoting the importance of wellbeing for our students 
and staff. Our UELConnected portal now offers nearly two dozen resources, 
including counselling services. We signed on to become one of the first universities in 
the UK to join the University Mental Health Charter Programme, a resource-sharing 
agreement which affirmed our commitment to making mental health and wellbeing 
a priority. In autumn, we created wellness zones for students at our campuses, 
providing them with easy access to local healthcare contacts, GP registration, 
Covid-19 vaccinations, testing kits and more. We hosted two Development Weeks 
which allowed staff to take time away from their work to progress professional and 
personal learning. We are also involved in pan-London initiatives to improve health 
and wellbeing across the city’s higher education communities.

Perhaps most visibly in 2021, we launched Connected Campus, a multi-phase, multi-
million programme of investment into the physical and digital quality of our three 
campuses. Students and staff told us they needed more attractive and accessible 
campuses with bolder showcasing of the University and new spaces that promote 
opportunities to connect our community.

The transformation began taking place since the summer. Developments range 
from a ground-breaking hospital and primary care training hub at Stratford to 
a new mock court room and trading room floor at University Square Stratford 
to refreshed ‘hearts’ at all three campuses with amenities such as new pop-up 
food and beverage outlets, flexible seating and exhibition areas for future events, 
outdoor cinemas, festivals and entertainment.  

As we emerge from the pandemic, it is our successful management of the last few 
years that has enabled this investment and allowed us to keep up with necessary 
growth and our future aspirations in a changing world. Connected Campus is our 
commitment to ensuring the University of East London continues to be a place 
where people want to study, work and live.  

Finally, for seven days in September the University hosted 4,000 graduates of 
the Classes of 2020 and 2021. At a specially constructed site near our Docklands 
campus, these graduates and their families celebrated the fruits of their hard 
work and perseverance. It was jubilant, emotional and uplifting, and our Docklands 
Campus truly came alive fully for the first time since the pandemic hit. 

In a ‘normal’ year, these accomplishments would have been admirable. In the year(s) 
of the Covid-19 global pandemic, they are nothing less than astonishing. I thank 
everyone involved.

It is with this confidence, reinvigorated and focussed, that we will continue our 
transformation into Year 4 of Vision 2028. 

Sincerely,

Professor Amanda J Broderick
BA (Hons) PhD DipM DipMRS PGCTL FRSA MBGS FCIM FHEA
Vice-Chancellor and President 19



Board of Governors   Period of office 

Ms Anulika Ajufo    Appointed as Chair on November 2019
     Appointed November 2018
Mr Ismail Amla   Appointed July 2019
Professor Amanda Broderick Vice-Chancellor and President – appointed   
     September 2018
Dr. Jackie Craissati MBE  Appointed July 2019
Mr John Garwood   Appointed March 2018
Ms Bindi Karia   Appointed March 2018
Mr Mottie Kessler MBE  Appointed October 2018
Mr Tommy MacDonnell  Re-appointed July 2019
Mr Michael Nartey   Resigned July 2021
Ms Doris Olulode   Appointed July 2020
Mr Gary Stewart   Appointed March 2018
Ms Janette Withey   Re-appointed July 2019
 
Staff Governors 
Mr Adam Doyle   Appointed July 2020
Ms Regina Everitt   Appointed July 2020
 
Student Governors 
Ms Insia Durrani   Appointed July 2020
Mr Naveen Pradeep   Appointed July 2020
Irfana Kottikulam-Aboobacker  Appointed July 2021
Lavanya Rajendran   Appointed July 2021
 
Co-opted Governors 
Sir Les Ebdon   Appointed July 2020
 
Governors who resigned 
Ms Insia Durrani   Appointed July 2020,
     term of office ended July 2021
Mr Naveen Pradeep   Appointed July 2020,
     term of office ended July 2021
Mr Michael Nartey   Appointed March 2018, resigned July 2021
 

GOVERNORS, EXECUTIVES
AND ADVISORS
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University Executive Board
 
Professor Amanda Broderick Vice-Chancellor and President
     appointed September 2018
Professor Hassan Abdalla  Provost 
Mr Jim Benson   University Secretary and Chief    
     Compliance Officer – appointed    
     June 2020
Professor Verity Brown  Pro-Vice Chancellor – Impact and   
     innovation – appointed March 2019
Mr Dean Curtis   Deputy Vice-Chancellor and Chief   
     Finance Officer – appointed February   
     2018
Professor Charles Egbu  Pro-Vice Chancellor – Education and   
     Experience –  appointed May 2019,   
     resigned November 2020
Professor Marcia A Wilson  Dean of the Office for Institutional Equity  
     – appointed January 2019, resigned   
     December 2020
Dr Paul Marshall   Pro-Vice Chancellor – Careers and   
     Enterprise –  appointed May 2019
Dr Ian Pickup    Chief Operating Officer – appointed April  
     2019
     Pro-Vice Chancellor – Education and   
     Experience –  appointed November 2020
Ms Vanessa Varvas   Chief Marketing Officer – appointed   
     March 2019
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WINTER
UEL RESPONDS 
ASSERTIVELY TO THE 
ONGOING GLOBAL 
PANDEMIC
From early 2021, it was clear we were 
in another challenging year where the 
global pandemic would continue to require 
strategic operational decisions and 
collaboration across the University and 
with community partners. Strong and 
decisive efforts helped us protect our 
students and staff. 

With the UK in lockdown, the University 
remained open utilising our Tiers of 
Operation system, created in coordination 
with Newham Public Health. The system 

provided protective measures which 
were automatically triggered depending 
on local infection rates and changes in 
government guidance. In combination with 
strong Covid-secure measures, including 
a full-time asymptomatic testing centre 
and, during the second half of 2021, a 
vaccination clinic, our on-campus Covid-19 
transmission rates were extremely low. 

We worked closely with our Newham 
partners to provide our wider community 
with Covid-19-related services, including 
the vaccination clinic, advocacy and aid.

Within the University, we continued to 
advocate for the importance of health 
and wellbeing for students and staff, 
offering comprehensive resources and 
services such as counselling, study and 
work flexibility and financial help.
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In March, Professor Amanda Broderick, our 
vice-chancellor and president, was appointed 
chair of London Higher, the umbrella 
institution representing over 40 higher 
education institutions across the capital.  

This followed the emergence of the University 
as a focal point for pioneering developments 
across the HE sector in London. Most 
urgently, this came in the form of work to 
create a sector-leading Covid-Secure campus 
that kept transmissions low and which formed 
the basis for the 10-point London-wide 
Covid-19 Secure Charter which set out best 
practice for all the capital’s HE institutions.

Leadership also came in the form of the 
University’s membership in the London 
Higher Micro-Credentials Pilot working group. 
Responding to skills needs and government 
policy, the University is developing an 
institution-wide strategy for the delivery of 
micro-credentials and ‘stackable degrees’ 
which will feed into the working group. 
The University is already delivering micro-
credentials to some of our international 
academic partners which is informing our work 
in this area.

BY JANUARY, 300 NURSING AND 
ALLIED HEALTH STUDENTS, 9 
BIOMEDICAL SCIENCE STUDENTS 
AND 280 APPRENTICES FROM THE 
SCHOOL OF HEALTH, SPORT AND BIOSCIENCE 
WERE INVOLVED IN CLINICAL PLACEMENTS 
SUPPORTING THE NHS AS THE 
PANDEMIC SURGED. IN SEPTEMBER, WE 
GRADUATED OUR FIRST-EVER NURSING 
COHORTS.
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“Many of our new nursing graduates 
undertook extended clinical placements 
as part of their studies, resulting in them 
spending much of the past 18 months 
on the Covid-19 frontlines. Nearly every 
single one has strong ties to east London, 
whether they have come from local NHS 
Trusts, spent their placements in local 
hospitals, or plan to eventually work 
within east London communities.”
Professor Jane Perry, dean of the School of 
Health, Sport and Bioscience24



IN A TIME OF NEED, A UNIVERSITY 
RISES TO THE OCCASION

The pandemic exacerbated one of east 
London’s most pressing needs –an 
acute shortage of healthcare workers. 
Fortunately, the University, which has 
been a centre of education for Newham 
since our founding in 1898, is committed 
to growing our nursing and healthcare 
programmes. In just three years, our 
Department of Nursing has grown 
from 62 to more than 1,000 students, 
offering multiple ways to access nursing 
professions. The goal is to provide 
first-class clinical training to help the 
government meet nursing and allied 
health targets. Plans for late 2021 
included the launch of a ground-breaking 
hospital and primary care training hub at 
Stratford to support the development of 
a career-ready NHS and health and social 
care workforce.  The centre will allow UEL 
to work even more closely with partner 
NHS Trusts using innovative learning 
gleaned from the pandemic.

The strength of our health support was 
also demonstrated by our work with 
Newham Public Health and Barts Health 
NHS Trust to establish one of the largest 
asymptomatic testing programmes in 
London, staffed by University staff and 
students and available to the University 
and wider communities. This built on our 
already established work in the early 
months of the pandemic to support the 
NHS Nightingale Hospital, our Docklands 
neighbour at ExCeL London. 

The work was further enhanced with the 
delivery of our own vaccine centre by 
mid-2021, which became part of the east 
London network pushing for greater take-
up of the vaccine. 
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SPRING
INDUSTRY 5.0 
EDUCATION, RESEARCH 
AND COMMUNITY 
COLLABORATION THRIVES 
AT UEL

A STUDENT-CENTRED, CAREERS-FIRST 
APPROACH 
As the lockdown continued throughout 
the spring, the University focussed on 
bolstering our careers-led provision. Our 
student-centred, careers-first approach 
remained broadly focused on three 
areas: our courses, our services and our 
network. 

At the heart of the student journey are 
our courses which, underpinned by the 
Professional Fitness and Mental Wealth 
programme, provide learners with 
opportunities to develop the diverse 
range of skills to succeed in our evolving 
world. This is reinforced by co-creation, 
collaboration, work experience and 
accreditation from employers.

A major priority in 2021 was the 
continued enhancement of our Dual 
Delivery educational model, an integrated 
academic and career development 
approach which supports students in a 
personalised learner journey, whether at 
home or on campus, to achieve enhanced 
graduate outcomes. 

In May, we introduced Dual Delivery 
2.0 for autumn 2021. Taking lessons 
from the original, this second iteration 
of Dual Delivery was designed to 
optimise student engagement and peer 
interaction, while also providing access 
to our industry-leading digital resources 
and facilities. The framework include a 
new approach to timetabling, optimising 
on-campus engagement and digital 
connectivity; an extensive enrichment 
programme; a personalised induction; and 
career development timetable and flexible 
modes of delivery.

Our apprenticeships provision 
grew in strength, with 764 student 
apprenticeships in place. Highlights 
included welcoming the first cohorts 
with our Police Constable Degree 
Apprenticeship Programme in February 
2021. The initiative, a collaboration with 
the London Metropolitan Police Force and 
learning partner Babcock International 
Group, is part of our ongoing commitment 
to strengthening the key worker cohort in 
the capital.

“Being at home and meeting people at 
UEL, Dual Delivery lets you enjoy both 
sides of being at university. It gives an 
equilibrium.”
Helena El Khalil, pharmacology student

26



REF AND KEF 
In March, we submitted to the Research 
Excellence Framework (REF) 2021. For 
REF 2021, 238 UEL researchers, working 
collaboratively across all UEL schools and 
institutes, submitted 29 impact case studies 
and 523 research articles, book chapters, 
sculptures, videos and performances. 
   
Meanwhile, in the first national Knowledge 
Exchange Framework (KEF) table, we were 
rated in the top 10 per cent of universities 
nationally for public and community 
engagement. 

IN THE 2021 TIMES HIGHER EDUCATION 
(THE) IMPACT RANKINGS, WHICH ASSESSES 
CONTRIBUTIONS TO THE UN’S SUSTAINABLE 
DEVELOPMENT GOALS BY HIGHER EDUCATION 
(HE) INSTITUTIONS, UEL RANKED IN THE 
TOP 20 INSTITUTIONS GLOBALLY 
FOR ‘GOAL 5: GENDER EQUALITY’ AND IN THE 
TOP 50 FOR BOTH ‘GOAL 10: REDUCING 
INEQUALITIES’ AND ‘GOAL 4: QUALITY 
EDUCATION.’ OVERALL, WE RANKED IN 
THE TOP 200, OUT OF 1,118 FROM 94 
COUNTRIES. 
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RESEARCH THAT IMPACTS OUR 
COMMUNITIES 
• Our Sustainable Research Institute 

(SRI) continues to support and lead a 
variety of ground-breaking research 
initiatives, including the Eastern New 
Energy initiative which will bring vital 
expertise and knowledge to companies 
in east England looking to reduce their 
carbon footprint.  

• Working with residents in Derrybrien, 
Ireland, peatlands expert Richard 
Lindsay successfully supported a 
legal challenge against peatland 
development, resulting in a European 
Court judgement against the 
Irish government and a secured 
future for one of the most carbon-
critical ecosystems on the planet. 
In November, Mr Lindsay and his 
students built and exhibited a 
‘Peatland Pavilion’ at the UN’s COP26 
climate summit in Glasgow. 

• Five geodesic Pollution Pods, 
originated by Professor Michael 
Pinsky, raised awareness and action 
against urban pollution. The Pods 
were a breathable monument to the 
environmental state of different parts 
of the world, recreating atmospheres 
from different global locations: Tautra 
in Norway, London, New Delhi, Beijing 
and São Paulo. The Pods, which have 
been travelling the world for four 
years, were exhibited at COP26 with 
UEL’s architecture students working 
as the installation team. 28



• Researchers from our Institute of Connected Communities (ICC) and 
their ‘Kick out Covid-19’ programme published the results of an initial 
survey of the mental welfare of children and young people in Sierra 
Leone and Zambia. The ‘Kick Out Covid-1’9 programme has provided 
17,000 relief packages and supported government interventions in 
vulnerable communities. The initiative will soon expand its reach into 
South Africa and Rwanda while ICC continue to advise and collaborate 
with the NHS and local government to produce resources for London 
communities.  

• UEL’s Baby Development Lab continued to conduct its world-class 
research into babies’ early progress throughout the pandemic 
lockdowns (as permitted by the UK government). Researchers noticed 
the ‘pandemic’ babies who visited the lab were shyer and less willing to 
interact with strangers than the babies who had visited the lab pre-
Covid-19.

“These findings were really interesting to us because we’re interested 
in how babies’ early interactions shape the way they experience the 
world,” said Professor Sam Wass, the lab’s director.
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On Earth Day 2021 UEL outlined its plans to be carbon net zero as an institution by 2028. 
The plan aims to reduce carbon-producing energy and produce green energy; create a Living 
Lab of real-time energy use data and the interventions that drive innovation across every 
aspect of the University; form industrial partnerships that set students up for green jobs; 
drive positive enterprise and behavioural change across east London; and position UEL as a 
London and global leader in the transition to net zero.

UEL seeks a holistic approach to climate change and global warming, creating opportunities 
for students and the larger UEL community and working with our neighbours in east London 
to find solutions with global impact. 

Our strategy includes working alongside blue-chip partners like Siemens to evolve a smart 
campus strategy and building on our already-impressive reputation for sustainability 
research to become a leading player in a global network of higher education institutions and 
thinkers galvanised to produce solutions, technical, social and behavioural.

An audit, now complete, has mapped our energy consumption and work has begun on a 
smart response. It is an example of how the fabric of our campus is becoming the subject 
of our study. Our developing Royal Docks Centre for Sustainable Innovation, Enterprise 
and Communities aims to drive green growth, providing a test bed for green research, 
housing, a Community Wellness Clinic, specialist employment agencies for green careers 
and laboratories where industry innovators, educators and students can come together to 
promote the circular economy.

We are also focussing on smaller, student-focussed initiatives like expanding the UEL 
Community Garden, offering food waste collection in student residences, and incorporating 
sustainability into the curriculum through our Career Zone Learning Pathways programme. 

SUSTAINABILITY
REACHING FOR NET ZERO

4 SOLAR PANEL SITES AT SPORTSDOCK, 
DOCKLANDS LIBRARY, STRATFORD LIBRARY 
AND UNIVERSITY SQUARE STRATFORD

100 PER CENT OF THE ELECTRICITY 
UEL PURCHASES FROM OUR SUPPLIER IS 
GENERATED BY RENEWABLE ENERGY
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“Our unique location gives us tremendous advantages. We 
sit in the heart of an enterprise zone that promises to bring 
new cutting-edge green industries to the Royal Docks. We 
are in the middle of one of the biggest regeneration sites 
in Western Europe, giving us close access to developments 
that will need to embrace smart technology. 

“Our position, our resource, our prominence gives us a 
once-in-a-generation opportunity to offer our students 
and researchers access to the latest thinking on the 
most pressing issue of the age, at the heart of a global 
network or next generation thinkers, all the time improving 
graduate employability and widening the talent pipeline.” - 
Professor Hassan Abdalla, provost 31



SUMMER
A SENSE OF RENEWAL 
EMERGES AS PANDEMIC 
RESTRICTIONS ARE LIFTED

UEL ATHLETES COMPETE ON AN INTERNATIONAL STAGE
In Tokyo, UEL athletes participated in the postponed 2020 Olympic and Paralympics Games. 
Though no medals were won, they were brave performances in extreme conditions. 
Gold medal hope Adam Gemili competed for Team GB in the men’s 200m, but was forced to 
pull out after suffering an injury. Jona Efoloko, fresh from earning his marketing degree, was a 
member of the men’s 4x100m relay team.

In the Paralympic Games, Ali Jawaad represented ParalympicsGB in the para powerlifting 
event and Vanessa Wallace competed in F34 shot put following a silver-medal winning 
performance at the World Para European Championships in Poland in June. 

4 UEL ATHLETES COMPETED IN THE 
2020 (HELD IN 2021) TOKYO OLYMPICS AND 
PARALYMPICS

1 WIN AND 1 SHORTLISTED ENTRY 
AT THE 2021 NEON (NATIONAL EDUCATION 
OPPORTUNITIES NETWORK) AWARDS
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 “It makes sense for the University of East London to take full 
occupation of University Square Stratford. We know this impactful 
building in the heart of Stratford’s business, arts and enterprise 
district will be a key asset for us as we continue to drive forward 
our careers-first agenda. This investment underlines our focus 
on diversifying the graduate talent pipeline, pioneering green 
and sustainable initiatives and - as the University in, of and for 
east London - to provide fulfilling opportunities for the Newham 
community.” - Professor Amanda Broderick, vice-chancellor and 
president

TAKING CONTROL OF UNIVERSITY SQUARE STRATFORD
In July, UEL completed the transfer of Birkbeck’s (University of London) share in University 
Square Stratford campus. Since then, the building has undergone extensive improvements via 
the Connected Campus programme, which aims to create places, both physical and digital, of 
enhanced wellbeing and more immersive learning.

This includes a new, fully operational mock courtroom with a dock, witness box and a public 
gallery. The newly designed Trading Floor and Strategy Lab, created in partnership with 
Amazon Web Services, will provide greater opportunities for students to expand their 
exposure to the global business world. Work is also underway to overhaul and create an 
immersive space at the USS Building Garden. The entrance to the building has been enhanced 
and made more welcoming with clearer signage and panels showcasing student journeys. 
The ability to grow the existing free Legal Advice and Tax and Accountancy Clinic in central 
Stratford will mark out USS as a beacon of impactful support for the local community.

Student Yasmin Haque, a dedicated champion of under-represented communities, won the 
NEON (National Education Opportunities Network) Student of the Year award in June for 
her “impactful” and “dedicated” work as a curriculum ambassador. Integrating knowledge 
from her MSc in Occupational and Organisational Psychology with an understanding of 
barriers to participation in higher education, Yasmin designed and hosting webinars for 
younger learners.

“The award means so much to me because I love the work I do as an ambassador, and 
I know just how important it is. The ambassador scheme allowed me to be one of the 
many individuals who helps pave the way for these pupils,” Yasmin said.

UEL SHOWS ITS PRIDE
Diversity and inclusion are core 
UEL values. We celebrated Pride 
month in June with a new rainbow 
crossing at our Docklands Campus 
in honour of our vibrant LGBTQ+ 
community.
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Our Global Sports Strategy 
encompasses six themes: 
promoting and facilitating health 
gain; accelerating inclusive talent; 
activating healthy spaces and 
places; transforming lives and 
communities through the power of 
sport; nurturing the workforce of 
tomorrow; sharing and disseminating 
knowledge.

SPORT
SPORT AT UEL IS A 
THRIVING ENTERPRISE 
WITH PROVISION RANGING 
FROM COMMUNITY AFTER-
SCHOOL PROGRAMMES TO 
SUPPORTING ATHLETES 
AT THE HIGHEST LEVELS 
OF INTERNATIONAL 
COMPETITION. 

140 SPORT SCHOLARS AT UEL

1,000 CHILDREN ATTENDED SPORT IN 
YOUR FUTURES SESSIONS; 100 PER CENT 
RATED THE EXPERIENCE “GOOD” OR 
“EXCELLENT” 

LOCAL, REGIONAL AND INTERNATIONAL PARTNERSHIPS AND PATHWAYS
A flurry of activity in 2021 was preceded by our announcement of a major partnership in 
December 2020. We launched, with Sport England, the East London Talent Pathway (ELTP). 
It is a £600,000 initiative which will support athletes with potential from Black, Asian and 
Minority Ethnic backgrounds and people from economically disadvantaged circumstances.

Spring saw the formation of the Women’s Elite Sport Partnership, a collaboration between 
UEL and five high-profile clubs from different sports: West Ham United from football, London 
Pulse Netball, Essex Rebels and London Lions from basketball and the Sunrisers cricket team. 
UEL will deliver world-class support in sports medicine, physiotherapy and coaching. The 
partnership will also enhance the development of women’s sport across three main areas: 
engagement, performance and commercial activity.

In April, we were awarded one of just four licences to compete in the inaugural British 
Wheelchair Basketball Women’s Premier League. The East London Phoenix will play in 
the first professional parasport league in the UK, with competition from Worcester, 
Loughborough and Cardiff Metropolitan. It’s also a landmark as the first franchise club in the 
University’s history, appropriately taking its name from the rising phoenix on our University 
crest that symbolises the spirit of UEL sport that never stops. The season launched in 
January 2022.

Capping off the year was the announcement that our SportsDock had been awarded an 
‘Excellent’ rating by Quest, Sport England’s recommended provider of quality assurance for 
leisure and sport development facilities. Quest also ranked SportsDock among the top ten 
places in the nation to train. 34



UEL launched the Sport In Your Futures (SIYF) programme with the 
aim of using sport as a vehicle to support social mobility and drive 
socio-economic change. It consisted of a comprehensive programme 
of event days with primary schools. Each day – up until lockdown – was 
hosted at Sports Dock, with 23 primary schools and over 1,000 pupils 
participating regularly in a variety of activities. For many who attended, 
the programme was their first experience within a university setting, 
within a large sporting venue, and their first experience of spectating at 
a sports event.

“The University was inspired by the events of London 2012, and the 
Olympic legacy is alive and well here in east London. It is appropriate 
that in this new Olympic year, we brought forward ground-breaking 
projects aimed at inspiring the next generation and enabling more 
people to take part and be active.”
- Dr Ian Pickup, pro vice-chancellor (education & experience). 

Despite the challenges of lockdown, we kept our commitment to our elite athletes 
to provide them with world-class resources. SportsDock was opened for training 
and we offered unlimited access to physiotherapy, recovery sessions and sport 
science support, including biomechanics, nutrition and psychology.   

“UEL support rivals any world-class programme.”
Vanessa Wallace, student and Paralympian 
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HEALTH & WELLBEING
25 RESOURCES FOR STUDENTS ON THE 
UEL WELLBEING PORTAL; 16 RESOURCES 
FOR STAFF

1,300 SESSIONS ATTENDED BY STAFF 
DURING THE FINAL TWO DAYS OF OUR JUNE 
DEVELOPMENT WEEK 

Covid-19 has necessitated that the 
University take strong action to 
physically protect our community, 
including providing testing and 
vaccination centres and strict Covid-
secure measures. Yet we are also 
acutely aware of the intellectual 
and emotional toll the pandemic 
and lockdowns have upon our 
students, staff and community. An 
ongoing priority - one that predates 
and will follow the pandemic - is 
for the University to become an 
exemplar institution with a learning 
environment and an organisational 
culture that enhances all aspects 
of wellbeing and enables people to 
study and work in a fulfilling and 
productive environment. 

This means providing our student 
and staff with online wellbeing portals 
which offer a variety of resources, 
tools and advice. Students and 
staff also have access to in-person 
resources, including counselling 
services.

We signed on to become one of 
the first universities in the UK to 
join the University Mental Health 
Charter Programme, led by student 
mental health charity Student Minds. 
This resource-sharing agreement 
affirmed our commitment to making 
mental health and wellbeing a 
priority. 

We also introduced the Fit for Your 
Future programme for new students, 
inviting them to explore ten domains 
of wellness which they can develop 
with university support: social, 
environmental, digital, cultural, 
financial, residential, physical, study, 
career and emotional.

In autumn, we created wellness zones 
for new students at our Docklands 
and Stratford campuses. Students 
were provided with essential 
information on local healthcare 
contacts, GP registration, Covid-19 
awareness, testing kits and other 
University support. 

For staff we staged our inaugural 
Development Weeks in June and 
September. These were designed to 
give staff time away from the normal 
work week to focus on professional 
and personal development and 
share in the University’s vision and 
progress. Staff members were given 
a range of opportunities to explore 
wellness and resilience, with options 
to attend live virtual courses on 
topics ranging from mindfulness 
to time management to resolving 
conflict. 
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“I spent a really enjoyable 90 minutes at 
Development Week exploring the topic of 
resilience with colleagues. It was both fun 
and practical.”
- Simon Pridgeon, deputy HR director

The University, in partnership with 
London Higher and JISC (the UK’s higher, 
further education and skills sectors’ 
not-for-profit organisation for digital 
services and solutions) funded, designed 
and developed Wellbeing Connect, an 
online mental health and wellbeing 
referral website for London students. 
Wellbeing Connect allows students and 
staff to quickly find appropriate NHS 
and third sector support services based 
on their London postcode. The tool 
provides resources and generates a map 
and details of local support services.
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University life began to approach a 
new normality as students returned 
to campus in autumn. We also held our 
first physical graduation ceremonies in 
two years and joined the international 
conversation on climate change at 
COP26.

In the new academic year, we launched 
our enhanced education framework, Dual 
Delivery 2.0. The programme included 
face-to-face learning and teaching; 
the ability to ‘flex’ to online delivery 
synchronously; ringfenced time for most 
co-curricular activities and enrichment 
programmes.

As a careers-led institution, we continued 
to offer a range of services to give 
students the skills and opportunities 
to stand out in a highly competitive 
job market. These include a plethora 
of on-campus and virtual learning and 
career services, such as Career Zones 
for employment guidance; personalised 
support and access to academic advisers, 
skills tutors, career coaches and wellbeing 
advisers; and access to the Track My 
Future portal wall which encompasses 
all learning and support services and 
a personalised student engagement 
dashboard. 

AUTUMN
A JOYFUL RETURN TO 
CAMPUS LIFE

4,000 STUDENTS IN UEL MENTORING 
PROGRAMMES

900 NEW EMPLOYERS SIGNED UP TO 
OUR CAREERS 1ST PLEDGE IN 2021, AGREEING 
TO PROVIDE SUPPORT FOR OUR INITIATIVES, 
STUDENTS AND GRADUATES 

As leaders in inclusivity, we increased the 
number of participants in our Diversity of 
Thought programme, a pioneering social 
mobility initiative that brings together 
employers and students with the aim of 
diversifying early talent pipelines. Initial 
programme partners include Amazon 
Web Services (AWS) and Madison Square 
Garden (MSG). Over 38 per cent of 
participants in our Diversity of Thought 
programme are the first in their family to 
go to university.

We also launched the UEL Edge Award, 
a programme to help students realise 
their full potential, in and outside of the 
classroom. Participants gain micro-
credentials that give a competitive edge 
for success with future employers.
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CONNECTED CAMPUS
MORE VIBRANT AND 
ENGAGING SPACES

With our hopeful emergence from the pandemic, we 
took the opportunity to re-vitalise the University with 
an enhanced environment for living, learning, socialising 
and working. The multi-million pound Connected 
Campus programme was launched in 2021.

Our students and staff told us they would welcome 
more attractive and accessible campuses with bolder 
showcasing of UEL work, along with new spaces that 
promote opportunities to connect the University 
community.
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Through a series of internships and competitions, students 
from a range of disciplines are contributing to the Connected 
Campus programme. Mahmoud Abdellettif, a fourth-year 
MArch (architecture) student was selected to take up a paid 
summer work placement position at BPR Architects, one of the 
Connected Campus design partners.

“It’s exciting to get hands-on experience in industry and 
even better to be involved in a project that will improve 
UEL.” Mahmoud Abdelletiff

Connected Campus will improve the quality of all three campuses 
and showcase UEL as a place where people want to study, 
work and live. It’s the delivery of a vibrant and forward-thinking 
gateway for the whole University community.

It will also extend into the digital campus, connecting students 
more easily to their studies and letting learners personalise their 
university digital space with the seamless, enhanced technology 
of the cloud.

Some of the first improvements were delivered in time for the 
2021/22 academic year. We transformed spaces that had not 
previously been fully utilised, created new branded wayfinding 
and enhanced landscaping, all creating a more interesting and 
accessible experience for visitors and daily users. 

In the future, new trails and public art will invite exploration and 
interaction on our campuses. Innovative design and architecture 
will also form campus ‘hearts’, focal points for academic 
study and conversation supplemented with greenery planting, 
refreshment pop-ups and modern furniture.

41



 
Inside our buildings, we are developing a pioneering Hospital and Primary 
Care Training Hub at Stratford, incorporating augmented and virtual 
reality technologies to get students closer to health procedures, such as 
examinations and operations.

The newly designed Trading Floor and Strategy Lab at University Square 
Stratford, created in partnership with Amazon Web Services, will provide 
greater opportunities for students to expand their exposure to the 
global business world. A new mock court room will also give law students 
authentic experiences in preparation for their future legal careers. 

All the improvements in Connected Campus aim to create a place, both 
physical and digital, of enhanced wellbeing and more immersive learning.
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“Connected Campus will enhance UEL’s ability to forge 
future careers and sustainable innovation, exceeding the 
aspirations of our students and the expectations of future 
employers.”   Dean Curtis, deputy vice-chancellor
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Operating and Finance Review   

The year has continued to be challenging as a result of the pandemic. However, the University has 
delivered a group level year end operating surplus of £17.9m for the year ended 31 July 2021. This 
very strong performance is primarily due to strong international student recruitment and controlled 
expenditure. 
  
Excluding impairment, the University achieved a surplus of £19.8m (11.4% of total income) as 
compared to a 2019/20 surplus of £0.2m (0.1% of total income). As at February 2021, UEL forecast 
an operating surplus of £10.1m but the year-end outturn has surpassed the forecast with an excellent 
result.   

The total comprehensive income for 2020/21 was a surplus of £44.2m which included an actuarial 
gain of £26.2m from the local government pension scheme end-of-year adjustments. The full deficit 
of this scheme has now reduced to £112.9m. See Pensions note 25. 

A summary of the University’s consolidated income, expenditure and outturn for the year ended 31 
July 2021 is shown in the table below. The table highlights a stronger operating cash flow and bank 
balances at end of 31 July 2021 as compared to the previous year.  
 
        Excluding impairment 
 2020/21 2019/20  2020/21 2019/20 
  £m £m   £m £m 
Income  174.8  155.3   174.8  155.3  
Expenditure 156.9  224.3   155.0  155.1  
Surplus / (Deficit) 17.9  (69.0)    19.8  0.2  
Actuarial Gain / (Loss) 26.2  (38.5)   26.2  (38.5)  
Total comprehensive income 44.1  (107.4)    46.0  (38.3)  

      
Net operating cashflow 30.7  25.8   30.7  25.8  
Cash and cash equivalents 66.2  49.9   66.2  49.9  
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The sections below will focus on student numbers, income and expenditure, balance sheet and 
treasury management performance for the year. 

Student numbers 

 

Overall student numbers as recorded at 1 December 2020 were 25,195 (2019:18,842) with 17,634 on 
campus. This represents an increase of 6,353 (33.5%) students over 2020, with strong growth from 
on campus and collaborative partnership. 
 
On-campus student numbers increased by 4,610 (35%) from 13,024 to 17,634, with increases in 
student numbers in all categories but the strongest growth came from International Post Graduate 
numbers with an increase of 3,572 (274%) over 2020. Further analysis between Home/EU and 
International students is shown in the graph below. 
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Financial Performance 2020/21 

Income 
 
Overall, total income increased by 12.6% from £155.3m in 2019/20 to £174.9m in 2020/21. 
 
Tuition fees and education contracts remain the University’s largest source of income which 
increased by 17% to £145.6m. The largest area of growth came from international students with an 
increase of £16.4m, mainly from the School of Business and Law. In addition, Home/EU student 
income also grew by £4.0m.  
 
Research grants and contracts income increased from £1.6m to £2.2m, with an increase of funding 
from Research Council / European Commission but with a reduction from EU and other sources; 
  
Other income decreased by £2.8m on the previous year, mainly from the fall in income from 
residences catering and conferencing due to the impact of the pandemic lockdown from March 2020 
onwards. However, the reduction is mitigated by an increase in collaborative agreements and other 
income. 
 
 
Expenditure 
 
Overall expenditure remains unchanged at the same level as 2019/20 excluding the impact of the 
impairment loss. However, there are significant movements within the expenditure categories as 
explained below:   
 
Staff costs constitute the largest component of expenditure and increased by £1.3m from £83.3m 
(2019/20) to £84.5m (2020/21).  
 
Other expenditure increased by £4.0m (6.6%) over last year mainly in areas to support our students 
during the pandemic; increased hardship bursaries, increased cleaning to ensure a Covid safe campus 
and increased spending on  refreshing the estate for return to life on campus. In addition, the 
University incurred significant expenditure in the area of CRM, Cloud, Wifi, IT infrastructure, IT 
applications and IT equipment to support and enhance a better student experience. Across the 
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University, increases in external agency costs, computer software and licence fees, subscriptions and 
external printing, communication costs added to the overall rise in non-pay expenditure. We also saw 
an increase in academic activities which increase in payment to partners and expenditure from 
research projects, in particular in the school of Psychology. 
 
These increases are offset by reductions in restructuring and depreciation costs. Bad debt provision 
(£8.0m compared to £2.5m) reduced the level of other expenses. Further reductions in costs in  
residences, catering and conferences due mainly to the lockdown and its impact on catering activities 
were also experienced. 
 
Interest and other finance costs include pension interest charge of £1.8m in 2020/21 and £1.9m 
2019/20.  
 
Balance Sheet  

 
Net assets as at 31 July 2021 totalled £26.9m, an increase of £44.2m from the previous year due to 
better operating position and the actuarial gain of £26.2m arising from a pension scheme. At year 
end, the pension scheme liabilities decreased by £23.0m from £135.9m in 2019/20 to £112.9m in 
2020/21. See Pensions note 25. 
 
Net current assets as at 31 July 2021 increased by £14.4m due to a strong cash balance,  increased 
debtors by £3.1m and increases in creditors balance by £4.9m due mainly to increase in deposits for 
future study received.  
 
The University had no commercial loans outstanding at end of 2019/20. 
 
Cash flow, liquidity and treasury management 
 
The total cash balance for the University and its subsidiary companies was £66.2m as at end of July 
2021 (compared to £49.9m in 2020). This level of cash balance was achieved through the improved 
operating position and less than forecast actual spend on capital projects, The combined impact of 
these results in a net cash inflow of £30.7m compared to £25.8m in 2019/20.   
 
The cash, cash equivalents and current asset investments at year end represent 161 days of 
expenditure, which is above the minimum 30 days reportable event threshold requirement set by 
OfS.   
 
Subsidiaries 
 
The University has two fully owned subsidiaries: Knowledge Dock Limited, which was set up to manage 
training and consultancy assignments and UEL Professional Services Limited, which was set up to 
provide employment services to UEL. The results of the subsidiaries have been incorporated into 
the income and expenditure account and the balance sheet. 
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Financial Performance Indicators 
 
The University continues to monitor several key financial performance indicators as follows: 
 
        2020/21 2019/20 
Operating position (including impairment) 10.3% -44.5% 
Operating position (excluding impairment) 11.4% 0.1% 

      
Staff costs % of income  48.3% 53.6% 
Net cash flow   £30,748 £25,844 

      
Day cover (including impairment) 160 84 
Day cover (excluding impairment) 162 123 

 
 
 
Risks and uncertainties   
 
As detailed in the Corporate Governance statement, the University has in place an embedded risk 
management strategy and policy which has been approved by senior management and the Audit & 
Risk Committee. This is also subject to review by the University’s internal auditors. The key risks, 
priorities and mitigating factors within the risk register are regularly considered and updated.  The 
risk register is a standing item on the agenda of the University Executive Board and the Audit & Risk 
Committee. 
 
In 2020 a risk register was developed to respond to issues surrounding the COVID 19 pandemic.  This 
covers matters relating from the well-being of staff and students to the impact on finance, student 
recruitment and the delivery of key strategic objectives. 
 
Key risks identified for the year ahead will continue to be influenced strongly by the COVID 19 
pandemic but will also include a failure to recruit and re-enrol students to target 
numbers.  Associated risks of failing to recruit international students and to comply with Tier 4 
sponsor duties have also been identified.  In common with other parts of the sector, issues of 
demographic change and public policy, combined with increasing competition and the changing 
demands of undergraduate students, have contributed to these risks.  
 
The University has embarked upon a full review of its risk register, partly acting on a review of the 
risk framework and management conducted by the Internal Auditors.   
 
Future plan  
 
The main challenge facing the University in the coming year is continued uncertainty of the impact of 
Covid-19 on its financial position The outcome of the recruitment round for the University in 2020/21 
was excellent, far exceeding the prudent plans set for the whole year. This has placed the University 
in a good position for 2021/22. However, the outcome of forthcoming Comprehensive Spending 
Review (CSR) and long-awaited Augur Review may produce more challenges ahead for the University 
sector. The University’s budget aligns with the Academic Strategy and is comprised of prudent 
student recruitment, a focus on improved student quality markers, new income streams and 
operating efficiencies. The University’s medium-term financial forecasts show continued solvency 
and the University can be considered a going concern.  



49 
 

Public benefit statement  

The University of East London is an exempt charity under the terms of the Charities Acts 2006 and 
2011. In setting and reviewing the University’s objectives and activities, the Board has had due regard 
to the Charity Commission’s guidance on the reporting of public benefit and particularly to its 
supplementary public benefit guidance on the advancement of education. This statement has been 
included in conformance with the formal reporting requirement of the Office for Students, which is 
the principal regulators of English higher education institutions. 
 
Our charitable aims and objectives 
The University launched its 10-year strategy – Vision 2028 – in January 2019.  Vision 2028 comprises 
four key objectives: 
 
Objective 1: Future graduate 
Better for our students – by delivering life-changing, life-long education and training. 
 
Objective 2: Future professional 
Better for employers – by providing graduates equipped for the future of work. 
 
Objective 3: Future life 
Better for our communities – by improving the impact of our activities on those we serve. 
 
Objective 4: Sustainability 
Better for the University– by increasing our financial, economic, environmental, human and social 
sustainability. 
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Corporate Governance  

The following statement is provided to enable readers of the Annual Financial Statements of the 
University to obtain a better understanding of the governance, management and legal structure of 
the institution. 
 
Principles 
The University endeavours to conduct its business in accordance with the seven “Nolan Principles” 
identified by the Committee on Standards in Public Life (selflessness, integrity, objectivity, 
accountability, openness, honesty and leadership) and in accordance with the guidance to universities 
which has been provided by the Committee of University Chairs in the HE Code of Governance 2020. 
 
Legal Status 
The University is an independent corporation, established as a Higher Education Corporation under 
the terms of the Education Reform Act 1988 and the Further and Higher Education Act 1992. Its 
objects, powers and framework of governance are set out in its Instrument and Articles of 
Government. Its Instrument of Government was approved by the Privy Council on 5 March 1993. The 
current version of the Articles came into operation on 11 July 2006. 
 
The University is an exempt charity whose charitable affairs are regulated by the Office for Students, 
together with UK Research and Innovation, which were established in January 2018 by the Higher 
Education and Research Act 2017 and started operating in April 2018. The University operates on 
campuses in Stratford and at Docklands in East London. 
 
Governance 
The Articles require the University of East London to have a Board of Governors and an Academic 
Board, each with clearly defined functions and responsibilities, to oversee and manage its activities. 
The Board of Governors is the University’s governing body, which is responsible for ensuring the 
effective oversight and management of the institution and for planning its future development. 
 
The Board has ultimate responsibility for all the affairs of the institution, including setting its general 
strategic direction as follows: 

• the determination of the educational character, strategic vision and mission of the University 
and the oversight of its activities, consistent with the interests of key stakeholders; 

• maintaining long-term business plans, overseeing the effective and efficient use of resources, 
and safeguarding the solvency of the University and the Corporation; 

• approving annual estimates of income and expenditure; 
• ensuring the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability, including 

financial and operational controls and risk assessment, procedures for handling internal 
grievances and for managing conflicts of interest; 

• the appointment, assignment, grading, performance monitoring, suspension, dismissal and 
determination of the pay and conditions of service of the holders of senior posts; 

• setting a framework for the pay and conditions of service of all other staff; 
• monitoring institutional performance against plans and approved KPIs benchmarked, where 

possible and appropriate, against other institutions. 
• In addition, deriving from UK and EU legislation and funding body regulations, the Board is also 

responsible for the overall legal and regulatory framework of the University and, specifically: 
• the trusteeship of charitable funds; 
• the guardianship of degree awarding powers, which cannot be delegated, for example, to a 

partner institution, but which are exercised by the Academic Board under its powers;  



51 
 

• ensuring compliance with the OfS’ regulatory framework, with the Vice- Chancellor and 
President acting as Accountable Officer. This includes making arrangements for internal and 
external audit and approving financial regulations; 

• ensuring compliance with all relevant bodies of UK legislation 
 
The Board has a majority of independent members and also includes the Vice-Chancellor and 
President, up to two teaching members of staff nominated by the Academic Board, one co-opted 
member of the professional support staff and two co-opted students - the President of the UEL 
Students’ Union and one elected student governor. The Vice-Chancellor and President and the staff 
members of the Board are paid employees of the University of East London but no member of the 
Board receives any reimbursement for the work they do as a Governor. The Board of Governors 
meets at least five times each academic year and holds an annual ‘Development Day’, at which it 
discusses strategy.  Due to the limitations that the global pandemic placed on the ability to meet on 
a face-to-face basis a series of online briefings were conducted over the course of 2020/21. 
 
In order to operate more transparently and efficiently, the Board approved a set of internal bye-laws 
in May 2021.  These bye-laws set out internal rules and procedures for certain decisions.  They will 
be subject to regular review and updating. 
 
The Board publishes its minutes on the website to promote transparency in how it carries out its 
responsibilities. The Board has agreed a Policy on Public Interest Disclosure, which is also published 
on the University’s website. The University maintains a Register of Interests of members of the 
Board and members of the University Executive Board and other senior managers, which may be 
consulted by arrangement with the University Secretary, who is the Clerk to the Board. The Clerk 
provides independent advice on matters of governance to Board members and the University 
management and staff. 
 
Reporting to the Board of Governors are the Audit and Risk Committee, the Finance and Resources 
Committee, the Governance and Search Committee and the Remuneration and Staffing Committee. 
These committees are chaired by, and their membership made up primarily from, the independent 
members of the Board. Chairs of Committees meet with the Chair of the Board before each Board 
meeting and this facilitates effective communication and business planning. The Board has also 
established a Transformation Projects Committee, to conduct due diligence on strategic initiatives 
formulated by University Executive Board, and an Ethics Advisory Committee to advise on ethical 
matters and to develop an ethical framework for the University. 
 
Students are represented on the Board of Governors. There is staff governor representation on the 
Governance and Search Committee. Members of the University Executive Board attend as required. 
 
The Academic Board is responsible for all matters relating to the research, scholarship, teaching and 
courses at the University, subject to the overall direction of the Board of Governors, drawing its 
membership entirely from the staff and the students of the institution. Reporting to the Academic 
Board are a number of key academic committees, all of which have particular roles to play in ensuring 
the quality of the student experience. Following the Internal Auditors review of academic governance 
in 2018/19, an effectiveness review was conducted in 2020/21 with the aim of ensuring that the Board 
of Governors received assurance that academic governance was working effectively within the 
University.  The outcomes of this effectiveness review will be implemented in 2021/22. 
 



52 
 

Students are represented on Academic Board and its committtees: the Education and Experience 
Committee, the Careers and Enterprise Committee, the Impact and Innovation Committee and the 
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Committee. These committees are responsible for developing, 
approving and monitoring the key strategies of the University’s core academic business. They receive 
regular reports from Schools and relevant Services and are in turn required to report regularly to 
the Academic Board. As part of the review of academic governance in 2018/19, a Scheme of 
Delegation for Academic Board and its committees was drawn up and subsequently approved. 
 
Management 
The Vice-Chancellor and President in addition to being a governor of the Board is the head of the 
institution and has a general responsibility to the Board of Governors for the organisation, direction 
and management of the institution. As both chief executive and chief academic officer of the 
University, the Vice-Chancellor and President exercises considerable influence upon the 
development of institutional strategy, academic quality, the identification and planning of new 
developments and the shaping of the institutional ethos. Under the terms of the OfS regulatory 
framework, the Vice-Chancellor and President is the designated Accountable Officer of the 
institution and in that capacity can be summoned to appear before the Public Accounts Committee 
of the House of Commons. 
 
The Vice-Chancellor and President is supported by the University Executive Board, which in 2020/21 
consisted of the Provost, the Deputy Vice-Chancellor and Chief Finance Officer, the Pro-Vice-
Chancellor (Education and Experience) and the Chief Operating Officer, the Pro-Vice-Chancellor 
(Impact and Innovation), the Pro-Vice-Chancellor (Careers and Enterprise), the Chief Marketing 
Officer, the Dean of the Office for Institutional Equity, the Director of HR and the University 
Secretary. The University Executive Board works together with the University Management Board 
on executive and operational management. The Provost is responsible for the management of the 
academic affairs of the University, while the professional and support services are managed by the 
Deputy Vice-Chancellor and Chief Finance Office, the Chief Marketing Officer, the University 
Secretary and the Chief Operating Officer and other members of UEB as appropriate. The University 
Management Board is a wider forum of academic and services managers, including the six Executive 
Deans of Academic Schools, that also meets on a regular basis. 
 
Responsibilities of the Board 
The Board of Governors is responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the institution and enable it to ensure that 
the financial statements are prepared in accordance with its instruments and articles, the Statement 
of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education and other relevant 
accounting standards. In addition, within the terms and conditions of funding for higher education 
institutions published by the Office for Students up to 31 July 2021, the Board of Governors, through 
its designated office holder, is required to prepare financial statements for each financial year which 
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the University of East London and of the surplus or 
deficit, cash flow and total recognised gains or losses for that year. 
In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Governors has ensured that: 
• suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently; 
• judgements and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent; 
• applicable accounting standards have been followed; and 
• financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to 
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presume that the University of East London will continue in operation. The Board of Governors is 
satisfied that the University has adequate resources to continue in operation for the foreseeable 
future. The going concern basis is appropriate for the preparation of the financial statements. 
 
The Board of Governors has taken reasonable steps to:  

•  ensure that funds from the Office for Students (OfS) are used only for the purposes for which 
they have been given and in accordance with the OfS terms and conditions, and the regulatory 
framework and any other conditions which the OfS may from time to time prescribe;  

•  ensure that funds from the Education and Skills Funding Agency are used only for the purposes 
for which they have been given and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
organisation; 

•  ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard 
public funds and funds from other sources;  

•  safeguard the assets of the University of East London and to prevent and detect fraud; and  
•  secure the economical, efficient and effective management of the University of East London’s 

resources and expenditure. 
 

The University’s system of internal financial control is based on the following: 
•  comprehensive Financial Regulations and Schedule of Delegation, detailing financial 

controls and procedures, approved annually by the Audit and Risk Committee and Board of 
Governors; 

•  detailed annual income, expenditure and capital budgets and cash flow forecasts, involving 
variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns; 

•  clearly defined and formalised requirements for the approval and control of expenditure, 
with investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to 
appropriate levels of appraisal and review as approved by the Board of Governors. 
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Statement on internal control by the Board of Governors 

As the governing body of the University of East London, the Board of Governors has responsibility 
for maintaining a sound system of internal control in support of its policies, aims and objectives. In 
so doing it has a responsibility to safeguard the public and other funds for which it is responsible, in 
accordance with the duties assigned to the Board of Governors in the Articles of Government and 
terms and conditions of funding for higher education institutions with OfS up to 31 July 2021 and its 
regulatory framework. 
 
The system of internal control is designed to understand and manage, rather than eliminate, the risk 
of non-achievement of policies, aims and objectives; it can therefore only provide only a reasonable 
and not an absolute assurance of effectiveness.  It is based on an ongoing process to identify the 
principal risks to the delivery of our policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the nature and extent 
of those risks and to ensure they are managed. This process has been in place for the year ended 31 
July 2021 and up to the date of approval of the financial statements, the key elements of which are 
as follows: 

• the Board meets six times in the year to consider the strategic direction and plans of the 
University and to monitor performance against those plans using Key Performance 
Indicators; 

• there is clear definition of the responsibilities of, and authority delegated to, committees of 
the Board and the executive; 

• the University’s 10-year strategic plan – Vision 2028, adopted by the Board in January 2019, 
sets the framework of strategic aims and objectives against which risks are assessed and 
performance is monitored and reported; 

• a University Risk Register which assesses key risks at institutional level, is maintained and is 
reviewed regularly by the University Executive Board and other senior staff as required; 

• all Schools and Services have risk registers, which are tested during the annual planning 
round, as well as forming part of their ongoing management processes; 

• the University Risk Register is reviewed at every meeting of the Audit and Risk Committee 
and by the Board of Governors at least three times a year; 

• the Board and its Committees require regular management reports to draw attention to the 
attendant risks and how they are being managed. The Vice-Chancellor and President is 
expected to alert the Board to any emergent risks; 

• a report on risk management is submitted to the Board annually; 
• the Audit and Risk Committee receives regular reports from the independent Internal 

Auditors on the adequacy and effectiveness of the University’s systems of internal control 
with recommendations, as appropriate, for improvements; 

• the work of the internal audit service is informed by an analysis of the operational, 
• business and financial risks to which the University is exposed and upon which internal audit 

activity for 2020/21 was based; 
• members of the University Executive Board are tasked with implementing the various 

Internal Audit recommendations and reporting progress to the Audit and Risk Committee; 
• the Audit and Risk Committee monitors the effectiveness of the systems of internal control 

on the Board’s behalf and provides regular reports to the Board; 
• the Internal Auditors provide an annual report to the Board of Governors on internal audit 

activity within the institution and an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
institution’s system of internal control, including internal financial control; 

• the Board receives and consider an annual report from the Audit and Risk Committee, which 
gives 

• assurance on systems for:  
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• risk management, control and governance 
• economy, efficiency and effectiveness (value for money) 
• management and quality assurance of data submitted to the Higher Education Statistics 

Agency, the Student Loans Company, OfS and other bodies. 
 
The review by the Board of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 
work of the internal auditors, KPMG. They still operate to the standards defined in the HEFCE 
Accountability and Audit Code of Practice (as adopted by the OfS) and submit regular reports on the 
adequacy and effectiveness of the system of internal controls, together with recommendations for 
improvement. Our review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is also informed by 
the work of the executive managers within the University, who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework and by comments made by the 
external auditors in their management letter and other reports. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Anulika Ajufo      Professor Amanda Broderick 
Chair of the Board     Vice-Chancellor & President 
of Governors      University of East London 
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Independent auditor’s report to the Governing Body of The 
University of East London  

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of The University of East London (the 'university') and its 
subsidiaries (the ‘group’) for the year ended 31 July 2021, which comprise consist of The 
consolidated and University Statement of Income and Expenditure, The Consolidated and 
University Statements of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated and University Balance Sheet, The 
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, Accounting policies and notes to the financial statements, 
including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has 
been applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards 
including Financial Reporting Standard 102 ‘The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK 
and Republic of Ireland’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion, the financial statements: 

• give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and the university's affairs as at 31 July 2021 
and of its income and expenditure, gains and losses, changes in reserves and cash flows for the 
year then ended; and  

• have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted 
Accounting Practice and the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education published in October 2018.  

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) 
and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are 
independent of the university in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Conclusions relating to going concern 

We are responsible for concluding on the appropriateness of the Governing body’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the group’s 
and the parent university’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify the auditor’s opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the group and the parent university to cease to continue as a going 
concern. 

In our evaluation of the Governing body’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks associated 
with the group’s and the parent university’s business model including effects arising from macro-
economic uncertainties such as Brexit and Covid-19, we assessed and challenged the 
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reasonableness of estimates made by the Governing body and the related disclosures and analysed 
how those risks might affect the group’s and the parent university’s financial resources or ability to 
continue operations over the going concern period.   

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the group’s and 
the parent university’s ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months 
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue. 

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the Governing body’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.  

The responsibilities of the Governing body with respect to going concern are described in the 
‘Responsibilities of the Governing body for the financial statements’ section of this report. 

Other information 

The Governing body are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises 
the information included in the annual report set out on pages 5-55; other than the financial 
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not 
cover the other information and, except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated in our report, we 
do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated. If we identify such material inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a material misstatement in the 
financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Office for Students (‘OfS’) accounts direction (issued 
October 2019) 

In our opinion, in all material respects: 

• funds from whatever source administered by the university for specific purposes have been 
properly applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with the relevant legislation;  

• funds provided by the OfS, UK Research and Innovation (including Research England) have been 
applied in accordance with the relevant terms and conditions; and 

• the requirements of the OfS’s accounts direction (issued October 2019) have been met. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 

We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters where the OfS accounts direction 
(issued October 2019) requires us to report to you where: 

• the university’s grant and fee income, as disclosed in the note to the accounts, has been 
materially misstated; or  
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• the university’s expenditure on access and participation activities for the financial year, as 
disclosed in the note to the accounts has been materially misstated. 

Responsibilities of Governing body for the financial statements 

As explained more fully in the Statement of responsibilities of the Governing body set out on pages 
52 & 53, the Governing body is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for 
being satisfied they give a true and fair view, and for such internal control as the Governing body 
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

In preparing the financial statements, the Governing body are responsible for assessing the 
university’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Governing body either 
intend to liquidate the university or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on 
the Financial Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This 
description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud 

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect material misstatements in 
respect of irregularities, including fraud. Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an 
unavoidable risk that material misstatements in the financial statements may not be detected, 
even though the audit is properly planned and performed in accordance with the ISAs (UK).  

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is 
detailed below:  

• We obtained an understanding of the legal and regulatory frameworks that are applicable to the 
group and university, and the sector in which it operates. We determined that the following laws 
and regulations were most significant;  

• financial reporting legislation (FEHE SORP 2019 and the OfS Accounts Direction (October 
2019)); 

• regulatory environment (including the OfS framework and relevant OfS regulatory 
notices); and  

• the Higher Education Code of Governance published by the CUC.  
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The engagement team remained alert to any indications of fraud and non-compliance with laws 
and regulations throughout the audit; 

• We understood how the group and university is complying with these legal and regulatory 
frameworks by making inquiries of management, internal audit, and those charged with 
governance. We enquired of management and those charged with governance whether there 
were any instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations, or whether they had any 
knowledge of actual or suspected fraud. We corroborated the results of our enquiries through 
our review of board minutes  and through our legal and professional expenses review; 

• To assess the potential risks of material misstatement, including how a fraud might occur, we 
obtained an understanding of: 

• The group and university’s operations, including the nature of its sources of income, 
expected financial statement disclosures and risks that may result in risk of material 
misstatement; and 

• The group and university’s control environment including the adequacy of procedures for 
authorisation of transactions 

• We assessed the susceptibility of the group and university’s financial statements to material 
misstatement, including how fraud might occur. Audit procedures perform by the engagement 
team included: 

• Evaluating the processes and controls established to address the risks related to 
irregularities and fraud; 

• Testing manual journal entries, in particular journal entries relating to management 
estimates and entries determined to be large or relating to unusual transactions; 

• Challenging assumptions and judgements made by management in its significant 
accounting estimates; 

• Identifying and testing related party transactions; and 

• Completion of audit procedures to conclude on the compliance of disclosures in the financial 
statements with applicable financial reporting requirements. These audit procedures were 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that the financial statements were free from fraud or 
error. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of 
not detecting one resulting from error and detecting irregularities that result from fraud is 
inherently more difficult than detecting those that result from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, deliberate concealment, forgery or intentional misrepresentations. Also, the further 
removed non-compliance with laws and regulations is from events and transactions reflected in 
the financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it;  

• We assessed the appropriateness of the collective competence and capabilities of the 
engagement team, including consideration of the engagement team's knowledge and 
understanding of the industry in which the group and parent university operates in, its 
understanding of, and practical experience with audit engagements of a similar nature and 
complexity through appropriate training and participation 

• We communicated relevant laws and regulations and potential fraud risks to all engagement 
team members, and remained alert to any indications of fraud, or non-compliance with laws and 
regulations throughout the audit.  

From the procedures performed we did not identify any material matters relating to non-
compliance with laws and regulations or matters in relation to fraud. 
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Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the university's Governing body, as a body, in accordance with 
paragraph 13.3 of the university's articles of government. Our audit work has been undertaken so 
that we might state to the university's Governing body those matters we are required to state to it 
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the university and the university's Governing 
body as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
 
 
Adam Terry 
 
Grant Thornton UK LLP 
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants 
Gatwick 
Date: 
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Financial Statements and notes to the accounts 

Consolidated and University statement of comprehensive income and expenditure 

 

All items of income and expenditure relate to continuing activities. 

Valuation of Fixed Assets 

The University commissioned Avison Young to undertake a desktop valuation of its fixed assets as at 
31st July 2021. The exercise resulted in an increase of the fixed asset value to £220.3m, an increase 
of £3.3m above the book value. However, the University’s accounting policy does not recognise a 
£3.3m increase in the value of land and buildings in the accounts but requires the recognition of 
impairments on its land and buildings and this was estimated to be £1.9m. 

 

2021 2021 Re-stated
2020

Re-stated
2020

Notes Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Income
Tuition fees and education contracts 1 145,598 145,598 124,349 124,349
Funding body grants 2 12,962 12,962 12,445 12,445
Research grants and contracts 3 2,191 2,142 1,607 1,515
Other income 4 14,100 15,697 16,873 19,045
Investment income 5 (0) 0 (0) 0
Donations 6 0 1,255 1 270
Total income 174,851 177,654 155,275 157,624

Expenditure
Staff costs 7 84,525 84,525 83,253 83,253
Restructuring costs 7(a) (1,037) (1,037) 3,604 3,604
Other operating expenses 9 63,528 66,331 59,580 61,929
Amortisation 11 1,016 1,016 742 742
Depreciation 12 4,445 4,445 6,153 6,153
Impairment on assets 12(a) 1,944 1,944 69,184 69,184
Interest and other finance costs 8 2,016 2,016 1,809 1,809
Total expenditure 156,437 159,240 224,325 226,674

Surplus/(Deficit) before other gains losses and share of operating 
surplus/(deficit) of joint ventures and associates.

18,414 18,414 (69,050) (69,050)

  
(Loss) on disposal of fixed assets (471) (471) (7) (7)
(Loss)/Gain on investments 0 0 0 0
Surplus/(Deficit) before tax 17,943 17,943 (69,057) (69,057)
Taxation 10 0 0 0 0
Surplus/(Deficit) for the year 17,943 17,943 (69,057) (69,057)

Unrealised surplus on revaluation of land and buildings 0 0 0 0
Actuarial gain/(loss) in respect of pension schemes 25 26,228 26,228 (38,480) (38,480)
Total comprehensive income for the year represented by: 44,171 44,171 (107,537) (107,537)

   Restricted comprehensive income for the year 18 9 9 10 10
   Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year 44,162 44,162 (107,547) (107,547)

44,171 44,171 (107,537) (107,537)
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Consolidated and University statements of changes in reserves 

 

  

Consolidated Restricted Re-stated
Unrestricted

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  
Balance at 1 August 2019 70 34,783 55,416 90,269 

(Deficit) for the year 0 (69,057) 0 (69,057)
Actuarial loss for the year 0 (38,480) 0 (38,480)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve 0 139 (139) 0 
Release of restricted funds spent in year 18 (10) 10 0 0 
Total comprehensive income for the year (10) (107,388) (139) (107,537)
Balance re-stated at 1 August 2020 60 (72,605) 55,277 (17,268)

Surplus for the year 0 17,943 0 17,943 
Actuarial gain for the year 0 26,228 0 26,228 
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve 0 93 (93) 0 
Release of restricted funds spent in year 18 (9) 9 0 0
Total comprehensive income for the year (9) 44,273 (93) 44,171 
Balance at 31 July 2021 51 (28,332) 55,184 26,903 

Institution Notes Restricted Re-stated
Unrestricted

Revaluation 
reserve

Total 

£'000  £'000  £'000  £'000  

Balance at 1 August 2019 70 34,766 55,416 90,252 

(Deficit) for the year 0 (69,057) 0 (69,057)
Actuarial loss for the year 0 (38,480) 0 (38,480)
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve 0 139 (139) 0 
Release of restricted funds spent in year (10) 10 0 0 
Total comprehensive income for the year (10) (107,388) (139) (107,537)
Balance re-stated at 1 August 2020 60 (72,622) 55,277 (17,285)

Surplus for the year 0 17,943 0 17,943 
Actuarial gain for the year 0 26,228 0 26,228 
Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve 0 93 (93) 0 

Release of restricted funds spent in year 18 (9) 9 0 0 

Total comprehensive income for the year (9) 44,273 (93) 44,171

Balance at 31 July 2021 51 (28,349) 55,184 26,886
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Consolidated and University balance sheet 

 

The accounting policies on pages 65–72 and the notes on pages 73-86 form an integral part of 
these financial statements. The financial statements were approved by the Board of Governors on 
24 January 2022 and signed on behalf by: 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
    

Anulika Ajufo       Professor Amanda Broderick 
Chair, Board of Governors     Vice-Chancellor and President 

       

2021 2021 Re-stated
2020

Re-stated
2020

Notes Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Non-current assets
Intangible assets 11 7,180 7,180 5,395 5,395
Fixed assets 12 157,350 157,350 152,674 152,674
Investments 13 34 234 34 234

164,564 164,764 158,103 158,303

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 14 18,157 19,313 15,016 15,172
Cash and cash equivalents 19 66,182 62,633 49,954 47,566

84,339 81,946 64,970 62,738
Less: Creditors: amounts falling within one year 15 (57,416) (56,409) (52,520) (51,560)
Net current assets 26,923 25,537 12,450 11,178

Total assets less current liabilities 191,487 190,301 170,553 169,481

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (46,358) (46,358) (46,798) (46,798)
Provisions
Pension provisions 25 (112,944) (112,944) (135,944) (135,944)
Other provisions 17 (5,282) (4,114) (5,079) (4,024)

Total net assets /(Liabilities) 26,903 26,886 (17,268) (17,285)

Restricted Reserves 
Income and expenditure reserve  restricted reserve 18 51 51 60 60
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve  unrestricted (28,332) (28,349) (72,605) (72,622)
Revaluation reserve 55,184 55,184 55,277 55,277

26,852 26,835 (17,328) (17,345)

Total Reserves 26,903 26,886 (17,268) (17,285)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

 

   

Notes 2021 Re-stated
2020

Cash flow from operating activities £'000 £'000 

Surplus/(Deficit) for the year before tax 17,943 (69,057)
Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation 12 4,445 6,153
Amortisation of intangibles 11 1,016 742
Impairment of assets 1,944 69,184
Release of capital grant 2 & 4 (1,241) (1,244)
Exchange differences (157) 167
Increase in debtors (3,163) (8,046)
Increase in creditors 5,781 23,377
Pension costs less contributions payable 1,418 1,478
Increase in other provisions 17 203 1,274

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Interest payable 8 2,016 1,809
Loss on the sale of fixed assets 541 7
Net cash inflow from operating activities 30,746 25,844

Cash flows from investing activities
Proceeds from sales of fixed assets (71) 0
Capital grants receipts 962 658
Investment income 22 23
Payments made to acquire fixed assets (11,786) (3,002)
Payments made to acquire intangible assets (3,465) (3,359)
Net cash (outflow) from investing activities (14,338) (5,680)

Cash flows from financing activities
Facility cost / Interest paid (49) (45)
Repayments of amounts borrowed (131) (189)
Net cash (outflow) from financing activities (180) (234)

Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 16,228 19,930

Cash and cash  equivalents at beginning of the year 19 49,954 30,024
Cash and cash  equivalents at end of the year 19 66,182 49,954
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Accounting policies 

1. General information 
The University of East London is registered with the Office for Students in England. The 
registered office is: University Way, Docklands Campus, London E16 2RD. 
 

2. Statement of compliance 
The Consolidated and Institution financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 102 (FRS102) 
and the Statement of Recommended Practice (SORP): Accounting for Further and Higher 
Education 2019. They have also been prepared in  accordance with the ‘carried forward’ 
powers and duties of previous legislation (Further and Higher Education Act 1992 and the 
Higher Education Act 2004) and the new  powers of the Higher Education and Research Act 
2017 during the transition period to 31 July 2019, the Royal Charter, the Accounts Direction 
issued by the Office for  Students (OfS), the Terms and conditions of funding for higher 
education institutions issued by the Office for Students and the Terms and conditions of 
Research England Grant.  
 
The University is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied the relevant public benefit 
requirement of the applicable UK laws and accounting standards 
 

3. Exemptions under FRS 102 
The Institution has taken the exemption under section 3.3 of the SORP (1.12(b) of FRS 102) to 
not produce a cash flow statement for the Institution in its separate financial statements. 
 

4. Basis of consolidation 
The Consolidated and Institution financial statements have been prepared under the 
historical cost convention.  
 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the university 
and its subsidiary undertakings for the financial year to 31 July 2021. Intra-group transactions 
are eliminated on consolidation. The consolidated financial statements do not include those 
of the University of East London Students’ Union as it is an independent association with 
separate control. The grant to the Students’ Union is disclosed in Note 9. The financial 
statements of our subsidiaries are prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
Companies Act 2006. 
 

5. Income recognition 
Income from the sale of goods and services is credited to the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure when the goods or services are supplied to the 
external customers or the terms of the contract have been satisfied.  
 
i) Tuition Fee income is stated gross of any expenditure which is not a discount and credited 
to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the period in 
which students are studying. Where the amount of the tuition fee is reduced, by a discount 
for prompt payment, income receivable is shown net of the discount. Bursaries and 
scholarships are accounted for gross as expenditure and not deducted from income. 
 
ii) Investment income is credited to the income and expenditure account on a receivable basis. 
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iii) Agency arrangements 
The University acts as an agent in the collection and payment of funds received from some 
collaborative partners. Receipts from students and subsequent payments to partners are 
excluded from the statement of comprehensive income and expenditure account. 
The University also acts as an agent in the collection and payment of training bursary to 
students under DfE (ITT and SKE) and NHS programmes. The administrative fees received 
from DfE (ITT and SKE) and NHS are included in the statement of comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure account. 
 
iv) Grant funding 
In line with the implementation of FRS 102, the University has adopted the accrual model for 
government revenue and capital grants.  
 
Government revenue grants including funding council block grant and research grants are 
recognised in income over the periods in which the University recognises the related costs 
for which the grant is intended to compensate.  
 
Government capital grants received in respect of the acquisition, or construction of, fixed 
assets are recognised in income on a systematic basis over the expected useful life of the 
asset to which the grant relates.  
 
An annual transfer is made to the income and expenditure account over the useful economic 
life of the asset, at the same rate as the depreciation charge on the asset for which the grant 
was awarded. The income shall be recorded within the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
under the relevant heading of funding body grants. 
Where part of a government grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income within 
creditors and allocated between creditors due within one year and due after more than one 
year as appropriate. 
 
Grants (including research grants) from non-government sources are recognised in income 
when the University is entitled to the income and performance related conditions have been 
met. Income received in advance of performance related conditions being met is recognised 
as deferred income within creditors on the balance sheet and release to income as the 
conditions are met.  
 
v) Donations are non-exchange transactions which are accounted for using the performance 
method, and to be categorised as restricted or unrestricted donations depending on the 
circumstances. 
Donations with restrictions are recognised in income when the University is entitled to the 
funds. Income is retained within the restricted reserve until such time that it is utilised in line 
with such restrictions at which point the income is released to general reserves. 
Donations with no restrictions are recognised in income when the University is entitled to the 
funds. 

 
6. Stocks 

Stocks primarily comprise various consumables and are valued at the lower of cost and net 
realisable value. 
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7. Maintenance of premises 

The University of East London has a recurrent maintenance programme which forms the 
basis of the ongoing maintenance of our estate. The cost of recurrent and routine corrective 
maintenance is charged to the income and expenditure account as it is incurred. 
 
Major refurbishment projects undertaken as part of our estates strategy which increase our 
economic capacity are capitalised as assets in construction and depreciated over a five-to-
ten year period from completion. 
 

8. Tangible Assets 
 
Land and Building 
The University undertook a valuation exercise of its fixed assets as at 31st July 2020 and a 
light touch valuation as at end July 2021. This valuation was provided by Avison Young and the 
University has implemented the impairment aspects only of this valuation in accordance with 
its accounting policy. 
 
Property and Equipment 
Property and Equipment is stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.   

Depreciation 
Freehold land and long-term leasehold land is considered to have indefinite useful life and is 
not depreciated.  
 
Buildings are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their expected useful lives as follows:  
 
Freehold buildings                            50 years 
Long Leasehold buildings                25 years 
Short Leasehold buildings               3 years 
Refurbishments 5 to 10 years 

 
Equipment 
Capitalised equipment is stated at cost and depreciated over its expected useful life as 
follows: 
General 8 years 
Solar panels                                        25 years 
Lifts (depends on type)                15 to 20 years 
Boilers and chillers     15 years 
Generators 25 years 
Computers 5 years 
Furniture 10 years 
Vehicles 5 years 

 
Assets costing more than £20,000 are initially capitalised at cost.  
In cases where individual assets costing less than £20,000 each form part of a specific project 
which enhances the value of the business for a number of years, the expenditure on that 
project will be capitalised and depreciated over the estimated useful life of the enhancement. 
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Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated. On completion they are transferred 
to other fixed asset categories and depreciated accordingly. 
 
Interest paid on loans to acquire tangible fixed assets is capitalised during the period of 
construction and written off over the life of the asset acquired. 
 
The University of East London adopted the transitional provisions of Financial Reporting 
Standard (FRS) 102. Accordingly, the book values at the implementation of FRS 102 were 
retained and the valuations of those assets held at valuation. 
 
 
 

9. Intangible asset 
In accordance with FRS102, software costs have been classified as intangible assets and 
amortised on a straight line basis over a period of 5 years. 
 

10. Pension scheme arrangements 
The University participates in two defined benefits schemes: the London Borough of Barking 
and Dagenham Pension Scheme and the Teachers’ Pension Scheme. It also operates a defined 
contribution scheme. All three schemes are funded by contributions from the university and 
employees.  

 
For the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham defined benefit scheme, the University is 
obliged to provide the agreed benefits to current and former employees, and actuarial risk 
and investment risk are borne by the University. The assets of the scheme are held separately 
from those of the Group, in separate trustee administered funds. Pension scheme assets and 
liabilities are measured on an actuarial basis using the projected unit method and discounted 
at a rate equivalent to the current rate of return on a high-quality corporate bond. The 
actuarial valuations are obtained at least triennially and are updated at each balance sheet 
date. The resulting defined benefit asset or liability, net of the related deferred tax, is 
presented separately after other net assets on the face of the balance sheet. 
 
For the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Pension Scheme the amounts charged to 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account are the current service 
costs and gains and losses on settlements and curtailments. They are included as part of staff 
costs. Past service costs are recognised immediately in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure account if the benefits have vested. If the benefits have not vested 
immediately, the costs are recognised over the period until vesting occurs. A notional interest 
cost on the pension liability or notional interest earned on the surplus is shown as part of 
finance costs or interest earned. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediately in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  

 
It is not possible to identify the assets of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme which are 
attributable to the university. This scheme is accounted for on a defined contribution basis 
and contributions to the scheme are included as expenditure in the period in which they are 
payable. 
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For defined contribution schemes the amount charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure account in respect of pension costs and other post-retirement 
benefits is the contribution payable in the year. Differences between contributions payable in 
the year and contributions actually paid are shown as either accruals or prepayments in the 
balance sheet. 
  

11. Employment benefits 
Short term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised 
as an expense in the year in which the employees render service to the University. Any unused 
benefits are accrued and measured as the additional amount the University expects to pay 
as a result of the unused entitlement.  

 
12. Leases 

Leasing agreements which transfer to the University substantially all the benefits and risks 
of ownership of an asset are treated as if the asset had been purchased outright. The lease 
rentals consist of capital and interest elements. The assets are included in fixed assets and 
the capital elements are shown as obligations under finance leases, and the interest element 
is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.  

 
Rental costs under operating leases are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure account in the year the costs are incurred. 
 

13. Financial Instruments 
A financial instrument is a contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a 
financial liability or equity instrument of another entity. 
Cash, bank, debtors, creditors and loan balances are recorded at current values. Interest 
earned on bank accounts and interest charged on loans are recorded as interest receivable 
and interest payable respectively in the period to which they relate. Bank charges are 
recorded as operating expenditure in the period which they relate. 
The University has credit facility in place where the interest element is paid at a fixed interest 
rate each quarter.  
Amounts owed by/to group undertakings are unsecured, interest free, have no fixed date of repayment 
and are repayable on demand. 
 

14. Investments 
Fixed asset investments are stated at cost less provision for any impairment in value. Current 
asset investments are stated at net realisable value. Any increase or decrease in value arising 
on the revaluation of current asset investments is recognised in the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure. 
 

15. Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash includes cash in hand, cash at bank, and deposits repayable on demand. Deposits are 
repayable on demand if they are available within 24 hours without penalty.  
 
Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to 
know amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. They include term deposits up 
to 3 months held as part of the university’s treasury management activities. Investments with 
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a maturity date in excess of 3 months at acquisition are classified as non-liquid resources and 
are treated as capital investments.  
 

16. Taxation 
The University is an exempt charity within the meaning of Schedule 3 of the Charities Act 2011 
(formerly Schedule 2 of the Charities Act 1993), and as such is a charity within the meaning of 
Paragraph 1 of Schedule 6 of the Finance Act 2010. Accordingly, the University is potentially 
exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered 
by sections 478-488 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 (CTA 2010) (formerly enacted in 
Section 505 of the Income and Corporation Taxes Act 1988 (ICTA)) or Section 256 of the 
Taxation of Chargeable Gains Act 1992 to the extent that such income or gains are applied 
to exclusively charitable purposes. All subsidiary companies are liable to Corporation Tax and 
Value Added Tax in the same way as any other commercial organisation. 
The University is registered for Value Added Tax (VAT) and its principal activities are exempt 
from Value Added Tax, but certain ancillary supplies and services are liable to Value Added 
Tax at various rates. Expenditure includes irrecoverable Value Added Tax charged by 
suppliers to the University.   
The University's subsidiary companies are subject to Corporation Tax and VAT in the same 
way as any commercial organisation 
 
 

17. Provisions, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
Provisions are recognised in the financial statements when:  
 
• the University has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event; 
• it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will be required to settle the obligation; 

and  
• a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

 
The amount recognised as a provision is determined by discounting the expected future cash 
flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to the liability. 
A contingent liability arises from a past event that gives the University a possible obligation 
whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of the University. Contingent liabilities also arise in 
circumstances where a provision would otherwise be made but either it is not probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required or the amount of the obligation cannot be measured 
reliably. 
A contingent asset arises where an event has taken place that gives the University a possible 
asset whose existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or otherwise of uncertain 
future events not wholly within the control of the University. 
Contingent assets and liabilities are not recognised in the Balance Sheet but disclosed in the 
notes. 
 

18. Foreign currency  
Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to GBP at the foreign exchange rate ruling 
at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at balance sheet date are translated to GBP at the rates of exchange ruling at 
that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translations are recognised in surplus or 
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deficit.  Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated 
at fair value are retranslated to GBP at foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates the fair 
value was determined. 
 

19. Reserves 
Reserves are classified as restricted or unrestricted. Restricted reserves include balances 
where donors have designated a specific purpose and therefore the University is restricted 
in the use of these funds. 
  

20. Going concern 
The University reviews its medium-term financial strategy every year and considers any 
adjustments that are required to ensure success in delivering the University’s strategy. The 
medium-term financial strategy sets out for a five-year period the inputs required to 
generate its income, surplus targets, investment plans, cash generation and liquidity position.  

 

The predicted negative impact of the pandemic on the 2020/21 year did not materialise, the 
revenue results and cash position for the 2020/21 year have been materially better than 
expected. At no point, due to its cash position, has there been the need to utilise any of the 
temporary cash support facilities that were created if the impact of the pandemic was not 
manageable. The Summer 2020 change programme has placed the University in a strong 
longer-term position to respond to volatility in the market and from policy. The University 
remains free of external debt as of 2019 and consequently has no covenant 
requirements/restrictions to the way it manages itself. 

 

The positive pace of income growth the University has experienced over the last 3 years 
indicated that it would exceed its Vision 2028 strategy income targets up to 5 years ahead of 
expectation. The level of surplus in the early years of its financial strategy is planned to grow 
at a more measured rate than income growth as longer-term investment in the student 
experience, graduate outcomes and market attractiveness is prioritised.  

University activity which present greatest financial uncertainty continue to be student 
recruitment during this period of sector volatility, lower occupancy of student residences and 
reduced student retention rates. The outcome of the October 2021 enrolment period 
resulted in a re-forecasted slower than target annual income growth (6% rather than 12%). 
January and May 2022 enrolment periods, however, continue to forecast above-target 
positive outcomes together with improved income on non-tuition fee areas. This, together 
with managed growth in expenditure will ensure that the University meets its surplus and 
cash generation targets, albeit with a reduced level of percentage income growth than 
predicted and experienced over the last 3 years. Financial resilience has significantly 
increased over the three years of the University’s Vision 2028 strategy and is now rated 
medium to high.   

 

The University continues to receive significant year-on-year increases in student demand 
with the September 2022 recruitment round forecast continuing this trend. There are, 
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however, various external risks including changes in government policy that could impact on 
the future position of the University. These are all considered in the risk management process 
of the University when revising its medium-term financial strategy and its budget setting 
process. Management has considered these risks in modelling a number of scenarios, 
including a reverse stress test to establish the magnitude of income reduction that would 
need to happen for the University’s going concern to be challenged before it took 
management action. The University feels confident that its future trading position, together 
with its strong balance sheet and cash position that it is financially sustainable over the next 
two years and beyond.  

 

Based on information and knowledge available in carrying out this review and an assessment 
of financial resilience, there is a reasonable expectation that the University has adequate 
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, 
these accounts continue to be prepared on a going concern basis.  

 

21. Key judgement and estimates 

 In preparing the financial statements to conform with FRS 102, management are required to 
use judgements in applying estimates and assumptions which affect the reported amounts. 
The main items where these judgements and estimates have been made include: 

 
i) Pension 
The annual pension statement is provided by the external actuaries and the University adopts 
the assumptions as recommended. The pension valuations are carried out at least triennially 
and will set the contribution rate for the following years. 

 
ii) Short term staff benefits 
The holiday pay accruals calculation is based on annual leave data supplied from the Human 
Resources department and assumptions have been made in areas where annual leave data 
was unavailable. 

 
iii) Recoverability of debtors 
The provision for doubtful debts is based on our estimate of the expected recoverability of 
those debts. Assumptions are made based on the level of debtors which have defaulted 
historically, coupled with current economic knowledge and impact from Covid-19 pandemic. 
The provision is based on the current situation of the customer at the balance sheet date, 
the age profile of the debt and the nature of the amount due. 
 
iv) Land revaluation and depreciation 

 The University undertook a valuation exercise of its fixed assets as at 31st July 2020 and a 
light touch valuation as at end July 2021. This valuation was provided by Avison Young and the 
University has implemented the impairment aspects only of this valuation in accordance with 
its accounting policy. 
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Notes to the accounts 

 
 
 
 
 

2021 2021 2020 2020 
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

1 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Tuition Fees and Education Contracts
UK Higher Education students 86,757 86,757 82,644 82,644
European Union (excluding UK students) 4,033 4,033 4,184 4,184
Non European Union students 44,513 44,513 28,088 28,088
Part-time students 7,418 7,418 7,216 7,216
Education contracts 2,877 2,877 2,217 2,217

145,598 145,598 124,349 124,349

2021 2021 2020 2020 
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

2 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Funding Body Grants
Recurrent grant
Office for Students 11,844 11,844 11,343 11,343
Capital Grant 696 696 696 696
Specific grants
Higher Education Innovation Fund 426 426 324 324
National College for Teaching & Leadership -4 -4 68 68
ESFA Apprenticeship - Other Income 0 0 14 14

12,962 12,962 12,445 12,445

2021 2021 2020 2020 
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

3 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Research Grants and Contracts

Research councils  357 357 225 225
UK based charities 247 247 252 252
European Commission 617 617 189 189
Other grants and contracts 970 921 941 849

2,191 2,142 1,607 1,515

The source of grant and fee income, included in notes 1 to 3 is as follows:

Grant income from the OfS 12,539 12,539 12,039 12,039

Grant income from other bodies 2,614 2,564 2,013 1,921

Fee income from non-qualifying  courses (exclusive of Vat) 2,877 2,877 2,217 2,217

Fee income for taught awards (exclusive of Vat) 142,721 142,721 122,132 122,132

160,751 160,701 138,401 138,309

2021 2021 2020 2020 
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

4 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Other Income
Residences, catering and conferences 5,311 5,311 9,479 9,479
Collaborative agreements 4,431 4,431 3,704 3,704
Release of Non-OfS capital grants 545 545 547 547
Other income 3,813 5,410 3,143 5,315

14,100 15,697 16,873 19,045
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All new professional services staff are signed on through UEL Professional Services Ltd and the 
costs are reflected in the Agency Cost line. 
 
Included in the staff costs are salaries totalling £2,313k (2019/20: £2,012k) paid to 705 (2019/20: 
567) hourly paid and specialist lecturers. The number of staff paid cannot be readily converted into 
full time equivalents so has not been included in the staff number table above. If an average lecturer 
cost was used then the total spend would translate into 32 full time equivalent academic staff in 
2020/21 (2019/20: 29 academic staff). 
 
 
Governors 
No Governor received remuneration in respect of their services either in the year under review 
(2020/21) or the prior year. 
The details of the non-staff governors expenses are as shown in the table below. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

6 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Donations and Endowments
Unrestricted donations 0 1,255 1 270

0 1,255 1 270

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

7 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Staff costs 
Salaries 63,063 45,698 62,222 47,047
Social security costs 6,839 5,034 6,594 5,064
Other pension costs 14,623 12,750 14,437 12,779
Agency costs 0 21,043 0 18,363
Total 84,525 84,525 83,253 83,253

Non-staff Governors 2020/21 2019/20
£ £

Anulika Ajufo 127 1,650
Anthony Mullee 55 302
Geoff Thompson (left 30 October 2019) 0 715

182 2,667
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Vice-Chancellor and President 
 
Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor:  Professor Amanda Broderick  
  01/08/20 - 31/07/21 01/08/19 - 31/07/20 
  2021 2020 
  £'000 £'000 
      
Basic Salary 229 229 
Bonus 0 8 
Payment in Lieu of Pension 44 44 
Benefits 11 24 
  284 305 

 

The emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor are shown on the same basis as for higher paid staff and exclude 
employer’s national insurance contributions.  

The Vice-Chancellor’s basic salary and payments in lieu of pension in 2020/21 remained the same as that 
in 2019/20. A payment of £7,500 was paid in 2019/20 relating to performance in the 2018/19 academic 
year.  

The Vice-Chancellor & President’s objectives are agreed by the Board of Governors. The Vice-
Chancellor & President’s long-term objective is to deliver the University’s Vision2028 Strategy. Overall 
progress towards the delivery of that Strategy is assessed each year. 

Discretionary performance-related payments are a contractual agreement of the Vice-Chancellor and 
President's salary package. The Remuneration Committee reviews the performance of the Vice-
Chancellor & President, Professor Broderick, against a broad range of objectives. The Remuneration 
Committee - which the Vice-Chancellor & President is not a member of - decides whether an award 
should be made, and the value of any amount allocated.  

The cost of contractual benefits reduced in 2020/21 as both the correct methodology was applied in 
addition to no overnight on-campus accommodation being used. As such, total emoluments reduced by 
8%.   

Benefits and their taxation implications of £11,435 (2020/21: £31,989) were paid to or on behalf of the 
Vice-Chancellor and President, these included: 

  
2020/21 2019/20 

£ £ 
Medical Insurance 3,976 3,823 
Accommodation 0 12,038 
Travel & Subsistence 7,459 8,628 
Performance Related Pay 0 7,500 
Total 11,435 31,989 

 

The relationship between the Vice-Chancellor's annualised salary and remuneration and that for all 
other employees expressed as a pay multiple of the median pay of all other employees on a full-time 
equivalent basis is as follows: 
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Vice-Chancellor's Pay Multiple: Professor Amanda Broderick 
  1/8/20 - 31/7/21 01/8/19 - 31/7/20 
  2021 Re-stated 

2020 
      
      
Salary (£'000) 229 229 
Total Remuneration (£'000) 284 305 
Median Pay – Basic Salary 40.6 40.6 
Pay ratio – Basic Salary to Median Pay 5.6 5.6 

Median Pay - Total Remuneration 44.3 44.3 
Pay ratio - Total Remuneration to Median Pay 6.4 6.9 

 

While basic pay ratio against staff pay remain the same, total remuneration against total staff 
remuneration, has reduced in 2020/21.   

 

 
 
The table below shows the number of higher paid staff, excluding the Vice-Chancellor and Acting 
Vice-Chancellors, whose remuneration falls within the following bands: 
 

 
The remuneration figures are calculated before deduction of any payments made under salary 
sacrifice schemes, include taxable benefits but exclude employer's pension contribution and 
employer's national insurance contributions. 
 

Average staff numbers by major category 2021 2020
No. Re-stated

Senior Management Staff 8 9
Teaching Staff 507 529
Research Staff 19 21
Professional, Administrative, Technical and Other Support Staff 779 792
Total 1,313 1,351

Higher paid staff 2021 2020
No. No.

£100,001 - £105,000 2 4
£105,001 - £110,000 2 3
£110,001 - £115,000 1 2
£115,001 - £120,000 1 0
£120,001 - £125,000 2 3
£125,001 - £130,000 0 1
£130,001 - £135,000 1 1
£150,001 - £155,000 1 1
£155,001 - £160,000 1 1

11 16
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Key management personnel 
Key management personnel include members of the University Executive Board. 
Members of the UEB are listed on page 21 of the annual report. 
 

 
 
 
The key management personnel compensation in the above table consists of salary, benefits, 
employer's NI and pension contribution. 
 
 
 
 
 
7(a) 
Restructuring costs 
An amount of £1m has been credited back to the Income and Expenditure statement as the 
restructuring provision made last year was higher than planned. The actual cost incurred was £2.7m 
instead of £3.6m. 
 

 
The amount of £2,281k was paid to 41 Access and Participation staff (2019/20: £2,525k and 37 Access 
Participation staff). 
 

 
 
The facility cost of £49k (2019: £45k) relates to a "Revolving Credit Facility" arrangement with 
Barclays Bank. 
 

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Total 1,513 1,546

7(b)
Access and Participation Year ended 31 

July 2021
Year ended 31 

July 2020
£'000 £'000

Access Investment 1,896 2,117
Financial Support 62 228
Disability Support (excluding expenditure included in the two categories above) 221 64
Research and Evaluation 102 116

2,281 2,525

2021 2021 Re-stated
2020

Re-stated
2020

Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution
8 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Facility cost 49 49 45 45
Exchange differences 157 157 (167) (167) 
Net charge on pension scheme 1,810 1,810 1,931 1,931

2,016 2,016 1,809 1,809
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The total includes £2,281k paid to 41 Access and Participation staff (see note 7) 
 
UEL Access and participation plan 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

9A Year ended 31 
July 2021

Year ended 31 
July 2020

Access and Particpation £'000 £'000
Access Investment 3,900 4,436
Financial Support 1,577 1,257
Disability Support (excluding expenditure included in the two categories above) 395 267
Research and Evaluation 208 165

6,080 6,125

https://uelac.sharepoint.com/sites/cfss/Shared%20Documents/Forms/AllItems.aspx?id=%2Fsites%2Fcfss%2FShared%20Documents%2FUEL%20APP%202020%2D25%2Epdf&parent=%2Fsites%2Fcfss%2FShared%20Documents
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10 
Taxation 

  

The University is not liable for Corporation Tax and no tax charges arise from its subsidiary companies. 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
The University commissioned Avison Young to undertake a desktop valuation of its fixed assets as at 
31st July 2021. The exercise resulted in an increase of the fixed asset value to £220.3m, an increase 

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

11 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Intangible assets: Software Cost

At 1 August 2020 9,746 9,746 6,086 6,086
Additions 3,234 3,234 3,621 3,621
Disposals (1,033) (1,033) 0 0
Transfers 0 0 39 39
As at July 21 11,947 11,947 9,746 9,746

Amortisation
At 1 August 2020 4,351 4,351 3,609 3,609
Charge for the year 1,016 1,016 742 742
Disposals (600) (600) 0 0
As at July 21 4,767 4,767 4,351 4,351

Net book value
As at July 21 7,180 7,180 5,395 5,395

As at July 20 5,395 5,395 2,477 2,477

Freehold Land 
and Buildings

Leasehold Land 
and Buildings

Equipment and 
furniture

Assets in 
construction

Total

12 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Tangible Assets
Group
Cost or valuation
At 1 August 2020 118,617 28,790 28,647 33 176,087
Additions 225 0 3,204 7,744 11,173
Disposals 0 0 (195) 0 (195)
Impairment losses (1,944) 0 0 0 (1,944)
Write back accumulated depreciation-impairment loss 13,755 0 0 0 13,755
At 31 July 2021 130,653 28,790 31,656 7,777 198,876

Depreciation
At 1 August 2020 147 839 22,427 0 23,413
Charge for the year 2,788 65 1,592 0 4,445
Write back depreciation on impairment 13,755 0 0 0 13,755
Disposals 0 0 (86) 0 (86)
At 31 July 2021 16,690 904 23,933 0 41,527

Net book value
At 31 July 2021 113,963 27,886 7,723 7,777 157,349

At 31 July 2020 118,470 27,951 6,220 33 152,674

Institution
Cost and valuation
At 1 August 2020 118,617 28,790 28,647 33 176,087
Additions 225 0 3,204 7,744 11,173
Disposals 0 0 (195) 0 (195)
Impairment losses (1,944) 0 0 0 (1,944)
Write back accumulated depreciation-impairment loss 13,755 0 0 0 13,755
At 31 July 2021 130,653 28,790 31,656 7,777 198,876

Depreciation
At 1 August 2020 147 839 22,427 0 23,413
Charge for the year 2,788 65 1,592 0 4,445
Write back depreciation on impairment 13,755 0 0 0 13,755
Disposals 0 0 (86) 0 (86)
At 31 July 2021 16,690                904                         23,933                   0 41,527                     
Net book value
At 31 July 2021 113,963 27,886 7,723 7,777 157,349

At 31 July 2020 118,470 27,951 6,220 33 152,674
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of £3.3m above the book value. However, the University’s accounting policy does not recognise a 
£3.3m increase in the value of land and buildings in the accounts but requires the recognition of 
impairments on its land and buildings and this was estimated to be £1.9m. 

 

 
The non-current investments have been valued at cost being: 
The £200k investment into 100% owned subsidiary company, UEL Professional Services Ltd in January 2016. 
£34k relates to investment in Universities UK Limited. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Note 15 has been re-classified to include Deposits on account. This is not a re-statement but to 
provide a more accurate position of the accounts to the readers.  
 
 

Subsidiary 
companies

Other fixed 
assets 

investments

Total

13 £'000 £'000 £'000
Non-Current Investments Consolidated

At 1 August 2020 0 34 34
At 31 July 2021 0 34 34

Institution
At 1 August 2020 200 34 234
At 31 July 2021 200 34 234

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated  Institution Consolidated  Institution

14 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Trade and other receivables
Amounts receivable within one year
Trade and other receivables 12,154 12,059 11,040 10,985
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertaking 0 0 0 0
Other debtors 1,926 1,925 587 587
Prepayments and accrued income 4,077 5,329 3,389 3,600

18,157 19,313 15,016 15,172

2021 2021 Re-stated
2020

Re-stated
2020

Consolidated  Institution Consolidated Institution
15 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Other loans repayable within one year 51 51 130 130
Trade creditors 4,254 4,254 4,710 4,496
Deposits on account 10,333 10,333 6,619 6,619
Other creditors 12,151 12,052 8,187 14,751
Taxation and social security 3,330 2,493 2,830 2,193
Accruals and deferred income 27,297 27,193 30,044 29,970
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertaking 0 33 0 19

57,416 56,408 52,520 51,560
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The restricted reserves relate to donations from the Noon Foundation. 

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated  Institution Consolidated  Institution

16 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred income 46,325 46,325 46,714 46,714
Other loans - HEFCE & Salix Finance Ltd (unsecured)
  Between one and two years 33 33 51 51
  Between two and five years 0 0 33 33

46,358 46,358 46,798 46,798

   Analysis of Deferred Capital Grant:
Due within one year 1,237 1,237 1,244 1,244
Due between one and two years 2,475 2,475 2,478 2,478
Due between two and five years 3,492 3,492 3,712 3,712
Due in five years or more 40,358 40,358 40,993 40,993
Due after more than one year 46,325 46,325 47,183 47,183

Total Deferred Capital Grant 47,562 47,562 48,427 48,427

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated  Institution Consolidated  Institution

Analysis of unsecured loans: £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Due within one year 51 51 130 130
Due between one and two years 33 33 52 52
Due between two and five years 0 0 33 33
Due in five years or more 0 0 0 0
Due after more than one year 33 33 85 85

Total unsecured loans 84 84 215 215

2021 2020
Consolidated and 

Institution
Consolidated and 

Institution
17 £'000 £'000 
Provision for liabilities
Balance at 1 August 5,079 3,805
Additional provision 204 1,274
Balance at 31 July 5,283 5,079

2021 2020
 Consolidated and 

Institution 
 Consolidated and 

Institution 
18 £'000 £'000 
Restricted Reserves
Balances at 1 August 2020 60 70

60 70
Release of restricted funds spent in year (9) (10)
At 31 July 2021 51 60
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Commitments contracted at 31 July 2021 include £694k related to L&T budget,107k for the CRM project. 
Various projects under the L&T budget with a total of £2,576k authorised but not yet contracted will be carried 
forward to 2021/22. 
 

21 
Contingent liabilities 

The University took out a "Standard Letter of Credit - Performance Bond" to US Department of Education 
on 3rd March 2021. This is due to late submission of US GAAP compliance financial statements for year ended 
July 2019. The guarantee amount is US$ 375,189 and the guarantee validity is recorded as 28th February 
2026. The charge is based on the outstanding liability of GBP 270,465 at a percentage of 1.000 per annum, 
minimum GBP 150.00 per annum, payable quarterly in advance. 
 
 

 
 

At 1 August 2020 Cash Flows At 31 July 2021

19 £'000 £'000 £'000 
Cash and cash equivalents
Consolidated

Cash and cash equivalents 49,954 16,228 66,182

Cash and cash equivalents
University

Cash and cash equivalents 47,566 15,067 62,633

2021 2021 2020 2020
Consolidated Institution Consolidated Institution

20 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Capital and other commitments
Commitments contracted for but not provided for in 
the financial statements

988 988 1,265 1,265

Authorised by the Board of Governors but not yet 
contracted for

0 0 2,684 2,684

988 988 3,949 3,949

22
Lease obligations

2021 2020
£'000 £'000

Total rentals payable under operating leases:
Payable during the year 181 316

Equipment and Furniture

Due within one year 0 195
Due between two and five years 194 232
Future lease payments due 194 427

Total Lease obligations 375 743
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The above lease commitment between two and five years is a lease agreement with Canon (UK) Limited - 
£122k, expiry date 30th April 2023, Northern Services - £6,000 expiry date 30th July 2023 and Glide Student 
and Residential Ltd - £66,000 expiry date 30th August 2024.   
 
 
 

23 
    

Subsidiary undertakings 
    

The subsidiary companies (all of which are registered in England & Wales), wholly-owned or effectively 
controlled by the University as follows: 

 

 
Due to the nature of the institution’s operations and the composition of the Board of Governors (being drawn 
from local public and private sector organisations) it is possible that transactions will take place with 
organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest. All transactions are 
completed in accordance with the University of East London's financial regulations. All transactions involving 
organisations in which a member of the Board of Governors may have an interest are conducted at arm’s 
length. 
 
The consolidated financial statements do not include those of the University of East London Students' Union 
as the University has no significant influence on its policies. However, since the University's Board of 
Governors includes representatives from the elected members of the students' union, transactions between 
the university and the union are recorded here for completeness. 
 
The following summarises the significant arm’s length transactions (in excess of £20,000) with related 
parties during the year: 
 

 
The student union other services income is a combination of utility costs, other recharges and printing 
services. The £779k is the annual support grant received by the Student Union inclusive of staff costs 
relating to responsibility allowances. 
No Board Members received any remuneration for the year 2020/21 and 2019/20. 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Company Principal Activity Status
Knowledge Dock Ltd 100% owned
UEL Professional Services Limited 100% owned

The supply of consultancy and business rentals.
The supply of staff to the University of East London

Company/institution Opening debtor 
or (creditor)

Income and 
(expenditure) 
for the year

Closing debtor or 
(creditor)

£ £ £
UEL Students' Union
Other services: income 714 8,258 0
Annual support grant 0 779,015 0

Elected President

Role of governor/senior post holder 

24 
Related party transactions 
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25 
Pension Schemes 

 
The University participates in two defined benefits schemes: The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
administered by the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham and the Teachers’ Pension Scheme. It also 
operates a defined contribution scheme, The UEL Retirement and Savings Plan, administered by Aviva. Two 
of the schemes are funded, but the Teachers' Pension Scheme is unfunded. 
 
Details of the three pension schemes are set out as follows: 
1. UEL Retirement and Savings Plan 
The University has offered this defined contribution scheme operated by Aviva as an alternative to the LGPS 
and the Teachers' Pension Scheme since 2013. In January 2016 the university's subsidiary company UEL 
Professional Services LTD started trading. This subsidiary company also operates the UEL Savings and 
Retirement Plan. 
UEL pays 10% of salary but staff can make contributions of up to 4% of salary and the University will match 
this on the basis of a 1.5% for every 1% of the staff member's contribution up to a maximum of 6% in addition 
to the 10%, making a maximum of 16% employer contribution. 
 
2. Teachers’ Pension Scheme (England and Wales) 
The latest actuarial valuation of the TPS was carried out as at 31 March 2016 and in accordance with the 
Public Service Pensions (Valuations and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014. The key elements of the 
valuation are: 
- employer contribution rates set at 23.68% (effective from 1 September 2019) of pensionable pay (2019: 
16.48%) 
- an employer cost cap of 10.9% of pensionable pay will be applied to future valuations 
- total scheme liabilities for service to the effective date of £191.5 bn, and notional assets of £176.6 bn, giving 
a notional past service deficit of £15.0 bn. 
 
The employer contribution rate was reassessed at the actuarial valuation to be carried out as at 31 March 
2016 (and each subsequent four yearly valuation). The next revision to the employer contribution rate took 
effect from 1 September 2019. The financial position relative to the employer cost cap will also be 
reconsidered at each four yearly valuation. 
 
3. London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Pension Scheme 
This defined benefit scheme administered by London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Pension Fund, is 
subject to a triennial valuation by independent actuaries and the most recent being as at 31 March 2020. 
The contributions to the scheme by the University of East London is 34.4% of pensionable salaries for non-
teaching staff (2016: 28.3%). The scheme actuary estimates that the employer’s contribution for the year to 
31 July 2021 would be approximately £4,272,000. 
 
The major categories of plan assets as a percentage of total plan assets were: 

 
 

 
 

Assets 2021 2020
Equities 86% 84%
Bonds 12% 13%
Property 4% 5%
Cash -3% -2%

Assumptions 
  

 

The financial assumptions used by the actuary were: 
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The current mortality assumption is based on the Vita Curves with improvements in line with the CMI 2020 
model (2020 - 2018 model) allowing for a long-term improvement of 1.25% pa, smoothing parameter of 7.0 an 
initial additional parameter of 0.5% pa and a 2020 weighting of 25%. 
 
The assumed life expectations from age 65 are: 

 
The assumptions used by the actuary are best estimates chosen from a range of possible actuarial 
assumptions. 
 
The following table shows the fair value of the University's share of the scheme assets and liabilities in 
accordance with the requirements of FRS 102: 
 

 

 

 

 

2021 2020
Pension Increase rate 2.8% 2.3%
Salary Increase rate 3.5% 3.0%
Discount rate 1.6% 1.4%

2021 2021 2020
Aft CMI 2020 

update
Bef CMI 2020 

update
Retiring today
Males 21.0 21.3 21.3
Females 23.5 23.6 23.5
Retiring in 20 years
Males 22.2 22.6 22.4
Females 25.0 25.1 24.8

Analysis of changes to the balance sheet:
2021 Re-stated

2020
2021 Re-stated

2020
2021 Re-stated

2020
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Opening Balance 168,325 174,579 ( 304,269) ( 268,634) ( 135,944) ( 94,055)
Contributions by members 821 922 ( 821) ( 922) 0 0
Contributions by the employer 4,200 3,822 0 0 4,200 3,822
Contributions in respect of unfunded benefits 440 479 440 0 880 479
Estimated benefits paid ( 6,781) ( 7,406) 6,781 7,406 0 0
Estimated unfunded benefits paid ( 440) ( 479) 0 479 ( 440) 0
Expected return on assets 2,261 3,638 0 0 2,261 3,638
Actuarial gains 34,067 ( 7,119) ( 7,730) ( 31,250) 26,337 ( 38,369)
Administrative expenses ( 109) ( 111) 0 0 ( 109) ( 111)
Current service cost 0 0 ( 5,426) ( 5,775) ( 5,426) ( 5,775)
Interest cost 0 0 ( 4,071) ( 5,569) ( 4,071) ( 5,569)
Past service costs 0 0 ( 632) ( 4) ( 632) ( 4)
Losses on curtailments 0 0 0 0 0 0
Closing Balance 202,784 168,325 ( 315,728) ( 304,269) ( 112,944) ( 135,944)

Fair value of employer assets Defined Benefit obligation Net liability recognised in balance 
sheet 

2021 Re-stated
2020

£'000 £'000
The University's net pension liabilities were as follows:
Fair value of employer assets 202,784 168,325
Present value of funded obligations ( 311,771) ( 299,876)
Net under-funding in funded plans ( 108,987) ( 131,551)
Present value of unfunded obligations ( 3,957) ( 4,393)
Net pension liability ( 112,944) ( 135,944)

2021 2,020
£'000 £'000

Analysis of amount charged to the income and expenditure account:

Current service cost 5,426 5,775
Past service cost (including curtailments) 632 4 
Operating charge 6,058 5,779 

Expected return on employer assets (2,261) (3,638)
Interest on pension scheme liabilities 4,071 5,569 
Net Return 1,810 1,931 
Net income and expenditure account cost 7,868 7,710 

2021 Re-stated
2020

£'000 £'000
Analysis of Statement of Changes in Reserves

34,067 (10,208)
Other actuarial gains/(losses) on assets 0 3,089 

3,753 1,221 
Changes in assumptions underlying the present value of the scheme liabilities (17,289) (37,748)
Experience gains / (losses) on the scheme liabilities 5,806 5,277 

26,337 (38,369)Experience gains / (losses) on the scheme liabilities

Actuarial return less expected return on pension scheme assets

Changes in demographic assumptions
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The Group pays contributions to the Fund at rates determined by the Fund's actuaries based on regular 
actuarial reviews of the financial position of the Fund. In the year ended 31 July 2021, contributions by the 
university to the scheme were £4.043m (2020: £3.803m). 
 

 
The information in the columns “2020 Restated” refer to Prior Period Adjustment which is explained in Note 
26 below. 
 
 
26. 
Prior Period Adjustment 
 
A review of the assumptions used by the London Borough of Barking and Dagenham Pension Scheme actuary 
in 2019/20 has identified an error in the closing value of the fair value of the funds’ assets as at July 2020. 
The value of the fund’s asset was based on June asset estimates which the actuary rolls forward to 31 July by 
using the market indices performance for the month, instead of actual July asset estimates from the Pension 
Fund. This led to a material overstatement of the fund’s asset by £5.7m (see Table 1). No other value was 
affected in 2019/20. 
 
All the changes have been adjusted for and reflected in note 25. 
 
Table 1 
 

Assets 2019/20 2019/20 
Restated 

Difference 

Opening fair value of fund assets 174,579  174,579  0  
Interest on assets 3,638  3,638  0  
Return on assets less interest -4,598  -10,208  -5,610  
Other actuarial gains / (losses) 3,212  3,089  -123  
Admin expenses -111  -111  0  
Contributions by employer 
including unfunded 

4,301  4,301  0  

Contributions by Scheme 
participants and other employers 

922  922  0  

Estimated benefits paid plus 
unfunded net of transfers in 

-7,885  -7,885  0  

Settlement prices received / (paid) 0  0  0  
Closing Fair value of Fund assets 174,058  168,325  -5,733  

 

The experience gains and losses for the year ended 31 July were: 2021
Re-stated

2020 2019 2018 2017
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Difference between the expected and actual return on assets 34,067 (7,119) 5,009 9,375 9,235
Value of assets 202,784 168,325 174,579 165,710 151,334
Percentage of assets 16.8% (4.2%) 0.3% 5.7% 6.1%

Experience gains on liabilities 5,806 5,277 336 (37) 10,251 
Present value of liabilities 315,728 304,269 268,634 237,226 239,197 
Percentage of present value of liabilities 1.8% 1.7% 0.1% 0.0% 4.3%

Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in Statement of Changes in Reserves 26,228 (38,480) (18,799) 19,363 13,425 
Present value of liabilities 315,728 304,269 268,634 237,226 239,197 
Percentage of present value of liabilities 8.3% (12.6%) (7.0%) 8.2% 5.6%

Net pension liability (112,944) (135,944) (94,055) (71,516) (87,863)
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